Clinical Applications of Biomedical Engineering

Editors

Mahdi Abed Hussein

Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Technology, Iraq

Hussein Abbas Mahdi

Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Technology, Iraq

Ali Adnan Abdulazahraa

Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Technology, Iraq

Hussein Mohammed Abdulamir

Biomedical Engineering, University of Technology

Mudhafar Naseer Shihab

Biomedical Engineering, University of Al-Mustaqbal, Iraq

Bright Sky Publications TM New Delhi Published By: Bright Sky Publications

Bright Sky Publication Office No. 3, 1st Floor, Pocket - H34, SEC-3, Rohini, Delhi, 110085, India

Editors: Mahdi Abed Hussein, Hussein Abbas Mahdi, Ali Adnan Abdulazahraa, Hussein Mohammed Abdulamir and Mudhafar Naseer Shihab

The author/publisher has attempted to trace and acknowledge the materials reproduced in this publication and apologize if permission and acknowledgements to publish in this form have not been given. If any material has not been acknowledged please write and let us know so that we may rectify it.

© Bright Sky Publications

Edition: 1st

Publication Year: 2025

Pages: 96

Paperback ISBN: 978-93-6233-075-8

E-Book ISBN: 978-93-6233-906-5

DOI: https://doi.org/10.62906/bs.book.434

Price: ₹610/-

Contents

S. No.	Chapters	Page No.
	Abstract	01
1.	Introduction to Biomedical Engineering	02
2.	History and Evolution of Biomedical Engineering	03
3.	Key Disciplines in Biomedical Engineering	04-13
4.	Medical Devices and Technologies	14-17
5.	Regulatory Considerations in Biomedical Engineering	18-21
6.	Clinical Trials and Research Methodologies	22-25
7.	Applications of Biomaterials in Medicine	26-29
8.	Advancements in Medical Imaging Technologies	30-33
9.	The Role of Robotics in Surgery	34-38
10.	Wearable Health Technology	39-43
11.	Telemedicine and Remote Patient Monitoring	44-47
12.	Ethical Issues in Biomedical Engineering	48-50
13.	Future Directions in Biomedical Engineering	51-55
14.	Case Studies in Biomedical Engineering	56-57
15.	Collaboration Between Engineers and Clinicians	58-59
16.	Conclusion	60
	References	61-96

Abstract

Biomedical engineering has made a vast array of advances in diagnostics, therapy, and the monitoring of patients, all of which significantly impact clinical practice and overall health care systems. A strong clinical emphasis is essential in creating disciplines, innovative devices, and cutting-edge technologies that have crucial biomedical applications. This clinical focus not only enhances patient care but also distinguishes biomedical engineering as an independent domain and a recognized health care profession in its own right. Furthermore, the following discussion provides a comprehensive summary of the key elements that are highly relevant to the clinical applications of biomedical engineering, as well as their broader significance within the health care landscape. These advancements not only improve individual patient outcomes but also contribute to the overall efficiency and effectiveness of health care delivery systems.

Biomedical engineering has begun to significantly impact clinical practice in various ways, leading to a substantial advancement in the overall quality of health care services provided to patients. A comprehensive understanding of how these clinical applications work is crucial, as it allows for a clear distinction among the related areas of knowledge, design, and the intricate process of manufacturing. The clinical focus of biomedical engineering primarily revolves around the diagnosis, treatment, and continuous monitoring of human physiologic systems, which are vital for the maintenance of health and the effective management of diseases. This focus is essential not only for the advancement of technological developments in the field but also serves as a valuable means for effective benchmarking of biomedical engineering as an independent and critical domain of knowledge. Medical devices have become pervasive in both hospital settings and in everyday life, used daily by millions of individuals around the globe. Their multifaceted role in diagnosis, therapy, and monitoring of various health conditions underscores the necessity for a cohesive framework of practical biomedical engineering knowledge that practitioners can rely on. This framework facilitates the medical community's ability to leverage advanced technologies in patient care. The experience and expertise gained in this field are directly transferable to a wide array of biomedical applications, thereby enriching the broader domain of health-care technologies and ensuring the continuous improvement of health outcomes for patients everywhere.

Introduction to Biomedical Engineering

Biomedical engineering is an expansive and multidisciplinary field that uniquely integrates the principles, methodologies, and highly effective problem-solving techniques of engineering with the fundamental aspects and complexities of biology and medicine. The primary and overarching goal of this innovative and constantly evolving field is to significantly improve human health and overall well-being through a thoughtful combination of rigorous research, effective technology transfer, and dedicated clinical practice. It functions as a bridge, bringing together and leveraging expertise from a variety of critical scientific domains, which include but are not limited to physics, chemistry, biology, mechanics, computer science, and even electrical engineering. This diverse range of knowledge and skills allows for groundbreaking innovations across various crucial areas, such as the careful design and development of advanced medical devices, the creation of novel biomaterials that can interact safely with biological systems, the enhancement of imaging modalities to provide clearer insights into the human body, and the implementation of pioneering biomedical robotics that assist in surgical procedures and rehabilitation. Each of these innovations within the broader field of biomedical engineering carries considerable commercial value, driving advancements that bolster the industry's immense potential to address and solve major global healthcare challenges and pressing issues that affect populations worldwide. By enhancing and improving medical treatments and technologies, biomedical engineering plays a pivotal role in elevating the quality of life for countless individuals, while also promoting health equity and access to care, ultimately paving the way for a healthier future for all [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7].

History and Evolution of Biomedical Engineering

The development of biomedical engineering is intricately and closely interwoven with significant and major advances taking place in various other fields throughout history. Early notable examples that showcase this profound connection between disciplines include the innovative and groundbreaking introduction of the x-ray in the year 1896, which revolutionized medical diagnostics, and the early use of wooden and metal implants by the ancient Egyptians, which not only reflected a foundational understanding of medicine and technology but also laid the groundwork for future innovations in surgical practices. Academic programs devoted to this interdisciplinary field first began to emerge in the United States in the late 1950s at several prestigious institutions, including Drexel University, Johns Hopkins University, the University of Pennsylvania, the City College of New York, and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, marking a critical moment in the establishment of biomedical engineering as a distinct area of study that combined principles from various domains. Furthermore, the rapid and continuous development of computer technology has proven to be pivotal in transforming the landscape of biomedical engineering, enabling significant advancements in highly specialized areas such as medical imaging and image processing, enhancing human-machine interaction, and facilitating the remarkable creation of artificial organs that effectively mimic the complex functions of biological structures. The increasing integration and use of computers in clinical activities have led to the establishment of a rigorous academic discipline in its own right, known as clinical engineering, which focuses on applying engineering principles to significantly improve patient care, healthcare outcomes, and medical technology. This ongoing evolution underscores the vital role that innovation plays in the field, promoting further research, and collaboration across various sectors that continue to shape the future of medicine and engineering together [1, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15]

Key Disciplines in Biomedical Engineering

Biomedical engineering encompasses the intricate and multifaceted application of principles that are derived from engineering, alongside biology and medicine, all aimed at significantly enhancing healthcare outcomes and overall patient care. Consequently, the essential disciplines that arise from these diverse fields offer foundational support and crucial insights for the multitude of clinical applications associated with the expansive realm of biomedical engineering. Among the most vital disciplines within this broad area of biomedical engineering are biomaterials, which delve deeply into the development and utilization of advanced materials that interact safely, effectively, and predictably with biological systems; biomechanics, a field that rigorously studies the mechanics of complex biological systems and the various forces exerted on these systems in different conditions; medical imaging, which encompasses a wide range of sophisticated techniques to visualize, analyze, and interpret the interior of a body for accurate clinical assessment and diagnosis; tissue engineering, which holds the promise of creating artificial organs and tissues with the ultimate goal of restoring, replacing, or enhancing biological function; and lastly, rehabilitation engineering, which is dedicated to the development of innovative technologies and methodologies to assist individuals in recovering physical function, thereby improving their quality of life through tailored interventions and support. This synthesis of diverse disciplines within biomedical engineering not only drives innovation but also plays a critical role in addressing pressing healthcare challenges [8, 16, 17, 18, 6, 19, 20].

Biomaterials are extensively and increasingly utilized across a wide range of innovative fields in medicine, with advanced engineering methods playing a crucial role in the precise tailoring and innovative design of these essential biomaterials. Notable applications of biomaterials within the expansive medical realm include implants, surgical sutures, dental materials, and diverse drug delivery systems, which represent just a few examples of their significance and utility. Additionally, biomechanics refers to the application of important principles from mechanics to complex biological systems, and these fundamental principles are regularly utilized in the design

and creation of a variety of sophisticated medical devices. Examples include highly engineered artificial heart valves, specialized catheters specifically designed for efficient drug delivery systems, and orthodontic wires that effectively aid in the crucial processes of teeth alignment and correction. The integration of these biomaterials and biomechanics continues to drive remarkable advancements in medical technology and patient care protocols [21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26]

Medical imaging encompasses a diverse range of techniques and sophisticated processes that are utilized for visualizing the internal structures of the human body, with the primary aim of facilitating clinical analysis and executing various medical procedures efficiently. Some of the key imaging technologies, including Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) systems, Computed Tomography (CT) scanners, and ultrasound machines, play a fundamental and pivotal role in the substantial advancement of modern medicine. These technologies not only allow for non-invasive examination and assessment but also significantly contribute to early diagnosis and effective treatment planning, thereby improving patient outcomes. In a related and equally important field, tissue engineering merges established engineering principles with comprehensive biological knowledge to create biological substitutes that can effectively restore, maintain, or enhance the functions of natural tissues that may be damaged or diseased due to various factors. This interdisciplinary approach is absolutely essential for developing innovative therapies and regenerative medicine strategies that address a wide array of health conditions and challenges faced by patients. Furthermore, the domain of rehabilitation engineering applies theoretical scientific knowledge and robust engineering methodologies to design and develop technologies and solutions aimed specifically at assisting individuals living with disabilities. This transformative field focuses on improving the quality of life for these individuals by providing them with assistive devices and adaptive technologies that enable greater independence, participation, engagement in everyday activities, thus fostering a more inclusive society. The remainder of this detailed text delves into the expansive clinical applications of biomedical engineering, presenting a comprehensive overview of several areas of particular interest and significance. These areas encompass a wide range of critical components such as innovative medical devices, regulatory frameworks that ensure safety and efficacy, and the multifaceted nature of clinical trials; the rigorous study and application of biomaterials, along with advanced imaging and cutting-edge optical technologies; the seamless integration of robotics, evolving wearable technology, and progressive telemedicine innovations; as well as essential ethical considerations, future research directions, in-depth case studies, and collaborative efforts within this dynamic field. Each of these discussed areas highlights the principal contributions that biomedical engineering makes to the broader healthcare landscape and to effective treatment methodologies that elevate patient care standards. The detailed discussions will include commonly encountered devices and methods in practice, critical regulatory considerations that healthcare professionals must address, emerging trends that shape the constantly evolving landscape of the industry, and the potential for collaborative opportunities that can drive further advancements. This comprehensive exploration sheds light on the significant and transformative role of biomedical engineering in enhancing healthcare outcomes while improving overall patient care experiences through innovation and collaboration [27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33].

3.1 Biomaterials

Biomaterials constitute an essential and increasingly vital discipline of clinical relevance within the wider field of biomedical engineering. They encompass both natural and synthetic materials, including various polymers, a wide array of metals, and diverse ceramics, each exhibiting specific properties that permit their safe introduction into living tissue without triggering significant adverse immune responses from the body. Biomaterials specifically designed for medical implants are particularly crucial, as they effectively serve to replace soft or hard tissue that has been damaged due to various pathological processes such as disease, injury, or other health-related issues. In addition to medical implants, other notable applications of biomaterials include a variety of disposable medical devices, comprehensive diagnostic kits designed for effective disease detection, and advanced therapeutics specifically tailored to improve patient outcomes. This vital discipline forms the foundation of significant developments in bioengineering, which are aimed at elucidating complex biological functions while creating innovative medical devices, artificial tissues, and highly effective delivery systems for drugs that are indispensable in modern medicine. Furthermore, technological advancements in the field of bioengineering have significantly enhanced the capabilities of diagnostic imaging, as well as the functionality of implanted therapeutic devices. These improvements have considerably facilitated the early detection of diseases and conditions through advanced methods such as magnetic resonance imaging and state-of-the-art ultrasound technology. Such developments also play a crucial role in extending patient lifespan, thanks to essential devices like cardiac stimulators, prosthetic heart valves, and vascular stents, which have transformed healthcare practices. Looking forward, there is great anticipation surrounding further groundbreaking innovations in treatment strategies specifically aimed at addressing life-threatening diseases, which are poised to revolutionize patient care and markedly improve therapeutic outcomes for countless individuals across the globe [34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42].

3.2 Biomechanics

Approaches in biomechanics have played a remarkably significant and increasingly important role in an extensive range of clinical settings. These innovative methods not only facilitate but also enhance the development of sophisticated engineering models. Such models can effectively relate mechanical stresses and strains to essential physiologic processes, thereby providing invaluable insights into the workings of the human body. Furthermore, it is crucial to emphasize that, for the majority of problems encountered in this intricate and ever-evolving field, the analysis must be multiscale in nature. This multiscale approach is not just beneficial; it is absolutely vital, as it recognizes that processes which occur at the molecular. cellular, and even tissue scales all contribute significantly to the overall behavior and functionality of tissues. Understanding these complex interactions and relationships is key to improving clinical outcomes and advancing medical technologies in meaningful ways. By leveraging these insightful findings, healthcare professionals can better diagnose, treat, and manage various conditions more effectively, ultimately leading to an enhancement in patient care, satisfaction, and recovery. The impact of biomechanics in clinical practice is profound, and as research continues to evolve, the potential to develop more targeted and efficient treatments becomes even greater, paving the way for innovations that could transform patient health and well-being [43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49].

A particularly important and vital approach within the realm of cardiovascular research and treatment involves the extensive use of advanced engineering models specifically designed to effectively characterize intricate and complex blood flow patterns. This innovative methodology has the profound potential to provide a much deeper and more comprehensive understanding of cardiovascular diseases, as well as the far-reaching effects and outcomes associated with various therapeutic interventions whether they are surgical procedures designed to anatomically correct issues or pharmaceutical treatments aimed at improving the overall health and wellness of patients. In this dynamic and rapidly evolving field, there exist three broad and significant areas of work that are particularly noteworthy.

The first area involves a detailed analysis that is based on in vivo patient data. Valuable and insightful information concerning the patient's unique and individual anatomy and kinematics including essential aspects such as heart wall dynamics, valve functionality, and other critical components related to cardiovascular function can be obtained through state-of-the-art and advanced imaging techniques that are continuously being developed and refined. This information can then be intricately related to various measures of blood flow along with a series of other associated biomarkers, which can include chemistry profiles, detailed cell population data, and a range of other biological factors that play an essential role in cardiovascular health. Some notable and widely accepted examples of current imaging techniques that are routinely used in this intricate analysis include magnetic resonance imaging magnetic resonance velocimetry, and advanced ultrasound technology, each contributing valuable and unique insights to the understanding of cardiovascular conditions. The second broad area of focus centers around the innovative utilization of Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD), which is employed specifically to predict and elucidate complex flow patterns within the circulatory system in various states of health and disease. CFD is also instrumental in thoroughly evaluating the generation and production of stress on blood cells and the vessel walls, thereby enhancing our understanding of how these stresses affect the overall cardiovascular health, functionality, and integrity of the vascular system [50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57]

3.3 Medical Imaging

Medical imaging technologies are experiencing continuous evolution, and alongside this ongoing progress, the associated image processing techniques are becoming increasingly sophisticated and highly refined. In the specific realm of Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI), advanced methodologies have been fully implemented that involve fully coupled electromagnetic diffusion equations. These complex equations allow for the highly precise modeling of the intricate electromagnetic interactions that occur within the human body, significantly aiding in determining the direction of diffusion that takes place within the various biological tissues being examined. This notable enhancement in MRI technology greatly contributes to the overall quality and efficacy of the diagnostic images produced, while also improving the clarity and depth of the information obtained from the scans performed. Conversely, in the critical area of Computed Tomography (CT) scans, substantial improvements in the speed of scanning as well as the overall comfort experienced by patients who

undergo CT scans represent some of the most active areas of research currently being pursued. A dedicated group of researchers is committed to enhancing these groundbreaking technologies to ensure that patients not only receive highly accurate and reliable diagnostic images but also enjoy minimal discomfort during the entire scanning process. Such advancements are fundamental in transforming diagnostic imaging into a more pleasant and less intimidating experience for patients, thus fostering a more positive interaction with healthcare. Regardingly ultrasound imaging, the pioneering work conducted by Tong et al. (2009) introduces a truly groundbreaking and innovative receive beamforming technique that creatively employs the coded excitation of tissue. This remarkably novel approach results in an outstanding two-to-three-fold increase in the signal-to-noise representing a substantial improvement that considerably enhances the overall quality and detail of ultrasound imaging. As such revolutionary techniques continue to develop and progress, they hold great promise for delivering more precise and detailed images, thereby significantly improving diagnostic capabilities in various medical fields and enhancing the potential for timely and accurate medical intervention [58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65].

The incorporation of innovative and cutting-edge smart materials has led to a truly remarkable and significant advancement in the ongoing development of sensory robotics, which are now being progressively and extensively used in various surgical procedures that require enhanced precision and accuracy. Robotic-assisted surgery has undergone an incredible transformation, evolving from being merely an abstract concept discussed and theorized in academic circles to a tangible and widely practiced reality in the modern medical field today. The primary advantage that is offered by Robotic-Assisted Surgical Systems (RASS) is that they greatly minimize the invasiveness typically associated with many surgical procedures while simultaneously enhancing the dexterity, control, and precision of the surgeon's movements during delicate operations that demand meticulous attention. However, despite these substantial benefits, the availability and the notably high costs associated with these advanced and sophisticated systems present significant obstacles that continue to hinder their widespread application across a diverse range of medical settings. As a result, this leads to their use being predominantly restricted to more complex and intricate surgeries that require such advanced technologies and specialized equipment. In a comprehensive review conducted by Cork et al. (2019), the authors delve deeply into the numerous challenges faced in the development of a low-cost RASS and also put forth insightful and valuable suggestions for future research directions that could potentially address these critical issues, ultimately paving the way for broader accessibility and implementation in the healthcare industry in the future [66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72].

3.4 Tissue engineering

An emerging and critically important research issue within the broad and diverse field of biomaterials is the state of the art in the rapidly advancing area of tissue engineering, which is an exciting and rapidly evolving discipline. The biomaterial-mediated regeneration of damaged or lost tissue structure, as well as the restoration of functional behavior, requires a comprehensive and interdisciplinary approach that successfully combines the essential principles and knowledge from biology, medicine, and materials science in a synergistic manner. With the increasing spectrum and sophistication of biomaterial applications being developed and researched, the scientific community is keen to create a controlled experimental environment that facilitates biomaterial-cell interaction in vitro. This is crucial for understanding, as deeply as possible, the complex dynamic interaction that occurs in vivo and influences tissue behavior. Tissue engineering itself encompasses the thoughtful integration of the principles derived from biology, medicine, and engineering, with the ultimate goal of enabling the comprehensive regeneration and effective replacement of damaged tissues in the human body. The field of tissue engineering specifically addresses the critical aspects related to the structural and functional restoration of various tissues that have been damaged, whether through injury, disease, or surgical procedures. This is achieved through either the in vitro construction of a biological tissue product or the targeted in vivo stimulation of the inherent biological regeneration potential of the tissues in question. In this intricate and multifaceted process, tissue engineering merges the use of various types of cells, advanced biomaterial scaffolds, and innovative stimulation strategies, which may be implemented either in controlled laboratory settings (in vitro) or directly within the living organism (in vivo) based on research objectives. Among the many cellular sources that can be utilized, stem cells are particularly notable and constitute an invaluable source of cells for the complex and multifaceted process of tissue engineering, possessing unique properties that enable them to differentiate into various cell types necessary for tissue regeneration [73, 74, 17, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79]

Generally speaking, the relationship between epithelial and connective tissue can be viewed as one of profound importance due to their close and intimate proximity to each other. This spatial relationship plays a crucial role in ensuring the overall integrity, stability, and functionality of biological systems. Therefore, it is absolutely crucial to effectively regenerate both types of tissues in a manner that accurately restores their original architectural arrangement and preserves their essential physiological functions and roles. The challenge of designing complex three-dimensional tissue constructs that can comprehensively support the multilineage differentiation of stem cells into tissues that are intricately and physiologically structured has been identified as an exceptionally tough and complicated problem within the intricate and multifaceted field of tissue engineering. During the intricate and highly coordinated process of embryonic development, both epithelial and connective tissues develop in a carefully organized and spatially oriented manner, which is of utmost necessity for the eventual formation of specific, functional, and well-adapted epithelial tissues. A great deal of significant scientific effort has been devoted to producing tissue-engineered oral mucosa, wherein the epithelial layer and the underlying connective tissue layer are composed primarily of human oral epithelial cells and fibroblasts, respectively. Despite these notable and substantial advancements in the field, the tissues that have been created continue to be characterized by a relatively simple structure, which closely mimics that of fetal oral mucosa. This simplicity can largely be attributed to the incomplete and partial differentiation of the epithelial cells that are involved in the entire regenerative and healing process. Furthermore, spheroids defined as three-dimensional multicellular aggregates that are composed of various and diverse types of cells hold considerable potential to support the multilineage differentiation of stem cells within a crucial environment that closely resembles a biological niche. This remarkable capability ultimately leads to the development of tissue that is not only more complex but also physiologically relevant, revealing a promising avenue for future research, exploration, and potential applications in the fields of regenerative medicine and advanced tissue engineering. The exploration of these spheroids may pave the way for transformative advancements in creating more functional tissue constructs that can better mimic the complexity, variety, and diversity of native tissues found in humans [80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86]

3.5 Rehabilitation engineering

Rehabilitation engineering is a highly specialized and growing field that applies a diverse range of innovative engineering techniques and systematic approaches to drastically enhance the quality of life for individuals who are living with disabilities or have experienced significant injuries in their lives.

The clinical impact of this fascinating discipline is incredibly profound and transformative, as it encompasses the comprehensive development of cutting-edge assistive technology and various rehabilitation devices that are specifically designed to empower individuals, enabling them to perform daily tasks that were previously considered completely inaccessible or, at the very least, extremely challenging for them to accomplish. This remarkable advancement not only allows for a much greater sense of independence and autonomy for these individuals but also significantly promotes motor recovery in cases of neural damage, thus facilitating various rehabilitation processes effectively and efficiently. At the very core of rehabilitation engineering are several key biomedical engineering concepts, which include essential principles of neural physiology, motor control, and the intricate interplay that exists between them. Additionally, this dynamic field employs highly advanced engineering techniques for modeling crucial aspects of neural control as well as human biomechanics, which greatly enhances the overall effectiveness and efficiency of rehabilitation strategies. These strategies are designed to make them more applicable and beneficial for those in need of these life-changing interventions, ultimately improving their overall well-being and fostering a sense of hope for a better future [87, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 94]

Rehabilitation engineering research stands as a fundamentally essential endeavor, primarily emerging from specialized rehabilitation engineering research centers along with a variety of academic institutes that are dedicated to advancing this significant field. The urgent and pressing need for intensive, long-lasting, repetitive practice in order to facilitate effective neural recovery can be thoroughly and comprehensively addressed through the innovative and progressive use of therapy devices. These advanced devices can serve not only as helpful adjuncts but can also be seamlessly integrated into the regular therapy routines followed by patients who possess the capability and tolerance for engaging in additional exercise. At the clinical level, detailed and systematic responses to individual therapy episodes are currently being measured with great care and precision. These therapy episodes, which are characterized by the intricate processes of both learning and forgetting, are subject to meticulous analysis so as to better inform predictive models regarding optimal therapy timing and the most beneficial scheduling for various interventions. Moreover, the advent and development of mixed-reality rehabilitation systems has significantly revolutionized the way stroke patients participate in therapy by enabling them to reliably execute naturalistic and repetitive arm and hand movements in an engaging manner. These innovative systems not only provide critical feedback on essential aspects related to voluntary movements, but they also facilitate invaluable opportunities for reducing social isolation while concurrently enhancing physical activity levels among patients undergoing rehabilitation. Additionally, complementary software tools, such as Aphasia-Scripts, strategically leverage advanced computer-based algorithms that are specifically aimed at assisting in the crucial process of language restoration following a stroke, ensuring that patients receive the best possible support in their recovery. Furthermore, extensive and thorough investigations regarding the timing of therapy for the lower extremity have increasingly adopted and employed innovative portable ankle rehabilitation robots. These sophisticated devices are designed with the intent to efficiently administer both active and passive stretching protocols. They aim to enhance recovery outcomes for individuals facing mobility challenges, thus significantly contributing to improving their quality of life and functional abilities in everyday activities. Through all these efforts, the field of rehabilitation engineering continues to expand and develop, bringing hope and renewed possibilities for many patients in their journey towards recovery and rehabilitation [95, 96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103]

Medical Devices and Technologies

Medical devices and technologies represent a central and essential facet of biomedical engineering research and development, playing an increasingly critical role in advancing modern healthcare practices. These sophisticated and innovative systems encompass a diverse array of applications, including diagnostic, therapeutic, and monitoring functions, each meticulously tailored to address specific clinical needs and improve patient outcomes effectively. Their thoughtful and strategic development has enabled the early detection of various pathological processes, which stands as a key milestone in the ongoing expansion of biomedical engineering into healthcare settings. This integration is ultimately enhancing the efficacy, safety, and quality of patient care in numerous ways, thereby transforming how medical professionals approach diagnosis and treatment [104, 105, 106, 107].

Diagnostic devices harness advanced physical phenomena to effectively detect the onset, presence, and progression of a wide array of diseases and conditions within the human body. These state-of-the-art technologies have become vital tools in the early identification of potential health issues, enabling healthcare professionals to initiate timely and appropriate intervention. Furthermore, therapeutic systems are meticulously designed with the remarkable capability to either halt the advance of various diseases or promote the healing process. This is achieved through the application of feedback control mechanisms, or by providing specific stimulation to essential biological processes in the body. In recent years, monitoring technologies have made tremendous strides forward, significantly evolving to support patient-centered care in the comfort of their homes through the effective implementation of telemedicine networks. These innovative networks seamlessly connect patients with healthcare providers, thereby ensuring that individuals receive the necessary medical attention and comprehensive support without the need for inconvenient travel to medical facilities. Additionally, devices that are specifically engineered for assistive rehabilitation aim to augment the residual mobility of patients, effectively enhancing their overall ability to carry out daily activities. At the same time, advanced robotic platforms have been meticulously developed to facilitate redundant degrees of freedom, thus offering greater flexibility and markedly improved functionality in various rehabilitation exercises. Collectively, these groundbreaking innovations not only enhance the overall quality of care being provided but also significantly improve the overall patient experience, making healthcare more accessible and efficient than ever before [108, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114]

The significant clinical impact of these advanced technologies has motivated a considerable emphasis on the urgent need for regulatory harmonisation through a variety of specific directives and comprehensive standards. In this increasingly complex and rapidly evolving landscape, the overlapping medical and engineering codes of conduct play a pivotal and essential role in governing not only the development and approval of innovative new biomedical devices but also their ongoing management, maintenance, and monitoring in real-world settings. Furthermore, regulatory compliance serves as a vital underpinning that steadily influences the careful design, rigorous implementation, and meticulous execution of appropriate clinical trials that are necessary for any new medical technology to be validated and accepted. These carefully conducted trials represent a crucial and indispensable step, one that must be successfully completed before any product can be introduced to the market. They ensure that both safety and efficacy are adequately demonstrated, documented, and validated to protect patient well-being while simultaneously promoting public health interests through dependable and effective medical solutions [115, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 122]

4.1 Diagnostic devices

Medical devices represent an extensive and varied collection of highly specialized instruments that are specifically engineered to assist the human body in various capacities, or in some cases, even to completely take over certain biological functions. When it comes to the clinical applications, such devices prove to be absolutely vital in providing support for diagnosis processes, facilitating ongoing monitoring of patient conditions, and enabling a range of therapeutic interventions. Consequently, they greatly enhance the overall precision, reliability, and effectiveness of treatment strategies employed by healthcare professionals. Broadly speaking, medical devices can be categorized into three primary groups: diagnostic devices, therapeutic devices, and monitoring devices. Within the ambit of clinical research, the advancement and development of sophisticated diagnostic devices are particularly crucial, as achieving timely and accurate diagnoses early on can lead to significantly advantageous outcomes for patients. This is

primarily because prompt diagnosis allows for treatment to begin without unnecessary delays. In recent years, there have been remarkable breakthroughs in the realm of micro-electro-mechanical systems, often referred to as MEMS. Such advances have given rise to the creation of highly sophisticated optical sensors that can accurately detect vital physiological data. This capability not only expedites the evolution of diagnostic devices but also significantly refines their effectiveness within healthcare settings. Moreover, the rise of the Internet of Things (IoT) along with the integration of wireless technology has led to an increasing demand for real-time and personalized medical services that are not confined or restricted by physical distance or time constraints. This burgeoning trend has catalyzed the development of innovative medical systems that are portable and wearable in nature, offering the flexibility for these devices to be either implanted within the body, worn externally, or accessed remotely. All of these systems are carefully designed to provide continuous monitoring of personal health and wellness, thus ensuring that individuals can maintain a higher standard of living and receive timely information regarding their health status [123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 109, 128, 129, 130]

4.2 Therapeutic devices

Clinical applications of biomedical engineering have significantly transformed patient care through an extensive array of innovative tools and solutions, including various types of implantable devices, interdisciplinary methodologies, and comprehensive regulatory processes that ensure safety and efficacy. The remarkable advancements witnessed throughout the 20th century featured an astounding explosion of clinical tools and solutions, which encompass cardiac pacemakers, defibrillators, artificial organs, a diverse selection of biocompatible materials, cutting-edge orthopedic implants, sophisticated medical robots, and highly functional prosthetics. This impressive array of developments is driven primarily by the unwavering collaborative efforts of dedicated clinicians, inventive engineers, and skilled scientists who tirelessly investigate and explore new, effective approaches to meet an ever-growing number of pressing clinical needs and challenges faced by healthcare providers. Therapeutic devices represent a crucial and indispensable category of medical machinery that is intentionally designed to treat, manage, or alleviate various illnesses or injuries experienced by patients. Specifically, implantable devices such as pacemakers, defibrillators, bioelectronic implants, along with various stimulators that target both cardiac and neural functions, play a vital role in supporting essential bodily functions while significantly improving the overall quality of life for individuals. Moreover, a vast and varied range of therapeutic technologies includes extracorporeal membrane oxygenation equipment, extracorporeal blood circuit pumps which are essential for several medical procedures, advanced surgical instruments that facilitate complex operations, and lifesaving dialysis machines that provide critical support for patients with impaired kidney function. The continuous improvement in the design, rigorous testing, and practical application of these essential therapeutic machines empowers healthcare providers to effectively treat and manage a diverse array of clinical conditions and diseases. Ultimately, these advancements lead to enhanced patient outcomes and contribute profoundly to a significant transformation in modern medicine and healthcare practices as a whole [131, 132, 133, 4, 134, 135, 20, 17, 33].

4.3 Monitoring devices

Monitoring devices play a vitally important role in the clinical setting by providing either continuous or intermittent data on a patient's physiological status, which is absolutely critical for effective healthcare delivery. These devices can also be effectively utilized by individuals outside of a hospital environment to facilitate regular and consistent assessments of health, which is increasingly becoming a standard practice in preventive care initiatives. In critical care scenarios, where patients are closely monitored to ensure the early and swift recognition of any deteriorating medical conditions, these devices provide indispensable and timely information regarding vital functions. This includes essential parameters such as heart rate, blood pressure, electrocardiography readings, respiratory rate, and blood oxygen saturation levels, each of which is crucial for accurately determining the health and stability of the patient throughout their treatment. The marked increase in the number of monitoring devices installed in intensive care units has presented significant and multifaceted challenges regarding how to effectively manage the vast amounts of data generated by these devices on a continual basis. Clinicians frequently face substantial difficulties in effectively analyzing, interpreting, and presenting this data in a user-friendly and meaningful way. In light of these challenges, numerous detailed investigations have been conducted into the integration of various monitoring devices with the primary objective of providing clinicians with intelligent alarms, alerts, and visual representations that accurately and effectively depict the evolving clinical situation. This systematic approach ultimately enhances patient care and significantly improves clinical outcomes in various healthcare settings [124, 136, 137, 138, 139, 140, 141, 142]

Regulatory Considerations in Biomedical Engineering

In the United States, medical devices are meticulously regulated by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), which operates with the primary goal of ensuring both safety and effectiveness, as well as the quality of all products that are utilized in healthcare settings across the nation. All types of medical devices, from simple tools used in routine examinations to advanced technological apparatuses employed in complex surgeries, are required to obtain pre-market approval before they can be made commercially available to healthcare providers and patients alike. The regulations that govern this comprehensive process entail extensive and detailed documentation that covers a myriad of critical aspects, including the manufacturing processes specifications, thorough validation product sterilization methods employed, packaging techniques used, and also the importance of accurate labeling. These regulatory controls, which are notably complex and multilayered, are tightly enforced by the FDA to assure the highest possible levels of patient safety and to maintain public trust in the advancements and innovations within the field of medicine. The rigorous nature of these regulations reflects the serious commitment to uphold health standards and the vast responsibility held by manufacturers to ensure that their medical devices meet all necessary criteria before reaching the market and being made available to those in need [1, 143, 144, 145, 146, 147, 148].

ISO 13485:2016 is an internationally recognized and widely agreed-upon standard that governs the highly intricate and complex processes involved in the design, development, and manufacture of medical devices. Its systematic requirements encompass a thoroughly documented and meticulously maintained quality management system that ensures a consistent approach and reliability in production processes. Additionally, it mandates the implementation of defined design controls to effectively manage and comprehensively oversee the various development stages, with clear responsibility and authority designated to specific personnel to ensure accountability. Furthermore, appropriate training and demonstrated competence for all team members involved in the processes are critical to achieving compliance with the established standards. Organizations are

required to undertake periodic and rigorous internal audits to evaluate their adherence to the standard and ensure ongoing compliance, alongside measures for full traceability throughout the production process to guarantee the integrity of the products. Moreover, the adequate monitoring and precise measurement of all processes are crucial to maintain the high standards and quality of the medical devices produced. Organizations that aim to effectively demonstrate compliance with these stringent and exacting requirements can apply for an independent third-party certification. This external validation of adherence to ISO 13485:2016 standards is generally considered more credible, reliable, and preferable compared to merely conducting a self-declaration of compliance. This independent certification not only enhances the organization's reputation in the competitive market but also significantly instills confidence and trust in stakeholders regarding the exceptional quality and safety of their medical devices [8, 149, 150, 151, 152, 153, 154].

5.1 FDA regulations

FDA regulations for medical devices serve the vital and essential purpose of protecting both patients and users alike by mandating that all marketed medical devices must be demonstrably safe as well as effective for their intended uses. In the United States alone, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) oversees the regulation of an impressive and substantial number of approximately 170,000 different medical devices, which collectively hold an estimated and astonishing manufacturing value of around \$110 billion. In addition to the regulations set forth by the FDA, most nations worldwide develop and implement their own specific regulatory frameworks for medical devices to ensure safety and efficacy across their own diverse markets. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has meticulously organized an extensive and comprehensive classification database that encompasses all medical devices regulated by the agency. This extensive database can be navigated through various search options, including keyword queries, medical specialties, and specific and explicit device classifications. Medical devices are systematically categorized into distinct classes based on the relative degree of risk associated with their use. While the classification system adopted by the FDA features three primary categories, other countries have taken steps to expand this framework with additional categories; for example, the European Union has introduced a more detailed categorization system that includes four classes ranging from Class I to Class III and, in certain circumstances, a Class IV, which is applicable as well. Before any medical device and its accessories can be marketed and sold within the United States, they are subjected to a series of rigorous and thorough premarket review and FDA clearance processes. This essential clearance process is fundamentally influenced by the specific device classification, which ultimately dictates the nature of the premarket submission that must be filed, alongside the requisite level of evidence required to substantiate the proposed indications for use. In the majority of cases. Class II devices necessitate a Premarket Notification submission. which is commonly referred to as a 510(k), unless they are exempt from regulation. This 510(k) process requires manufacturers to demonstrate substantial equivalence to a predicate device that is already legally marketed and approved. Conversely, Class III devices typically demand a far more stringent and rigorous Premarket Approval (PMA) process. Additionally, De Novo classification can be a suitable and appropriate pathway for certain Class I and II devices that do not have an appropriate predicate available, as well as for those devices for which general or special controls provide a reasonable assurance of safety and effectiveness. In evaluating whether to grant De Novo classification, the FDA carefully and thoroughly assesses the data submitted to ensure they also provide a reasonable assurance of both safety and effectiveness, weighing the probable health benefits against any probable risks involved in the utilization of the device. Safety and effectiveness data necessary for the review process can be gathered under an Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) for conducting investigations. Notably, significant risk devices including those that are classified as implants, life-supporting or life-sustaining devices, along with devices of considerable significance in addressing, diagnosing, curing, mitigating, or treating various diseases must receive FDA approval of an IDE application prior to the recruitment and enrollment of any patients into relevant and necessary studies. Moreover, data collected from early-stage studies can be instrumental and vital in supporting the development of both further clinical research initiatives and subsequent marketing applications, thereby facilitating the advancement of safe and effective medical devices into clinical practice and patient care [155, 156, 143, 157, 158, 159, 160, 161, 162].

5.2 ISO standards

The International Organization for Standardization (ISO) plays a crucial role in establishing vital standards that set forth essential requirements aimed at ensuring the safety and quality of a wide array of products and services across various industries. One key standard, ISO 13485, specifically defines the stringent requirements requisite for a comprehensive quality management system that is vital for the design and manufacture of a diverse range of medical devices. Furthermore, ISO 14155, which focuses on Medical

Devices Clinical Investigations, lays down the foundational principles and detailed requirements necessary for adhering to good clinical practice. This is particularly important with respect to the meticulous design, conduct, recording, and reporting of clinical investigations conducted on human subjects, aiming to assess both the safety and performance of medical devices for regulatory purposes. In the context of designing implantable biomaterials, it is crucial to account for the long-term interaction that will occur between the material and the host bone; this interaction must be thoroughly considered throughout the development process. ISO 10993 is another important standard that offers comprehensive guidelines to evaluate the biocompatibility of biomedical devices along with biomaterials. It is imperative that all devices that interface directly with the human body do not cause any form of irritation or disturbance in physiological functioning. Within this framework, ISO 10993-5 specifically recommends various methods, such as testing via cell media extract, direct contact cell seeding, and the MTT assay, as valuable approaches to evaluate cytotoxicity accurately. This standard is globally recognized and utilized for a myriad of biomedical applications, which encompass areas such as neural implants, advanced biosensors, drug delivery implants, and also the development of biodegradable implants like those made from magnesium alloy scaffolds. It is essential to note that any deviations from the established protocol, particularly concerning critical factors like surface area to volume ratio, agitation, control materials utilized, and sterilization methods, can manifest as inconsistent or unreliable data. For instance, certain studies might report findings from direct contact assays involving cells that are grown directly on specimens; such practices deviate from the recommended protocol and may yield results that indicate cell permissiveness rather than an accurate assessment of cytotoxicity. While cell attachment is indeed a significant factor in the evaluation process, it is crucial to ensure that it is not mistakenly interpreted as a definitive indicator of cytotoxicity, as there are nuanced distinctions that must be taken into account during the assessment process [163, 164, 152, 149, 151, 165, 166, 167, 168]

Clinical Trials and Research Methodologies

Experimental studies represent a distinctive category of research commonly referred to as intervention studies. These studies can be broadly categorized into two essential types: preclinical trials and clinical trials. Preclinical trials are primarily conducted on animal subjects, and their main purpose is to gather preliminary and essential data that can inform subsequent studies. Conversely, clinical trials involve human participants and are designed to further investigate the effects of various interventions in a more direct manner. The primary objective of such studies is to compare the effects of a specific intervention against another intervention or a placebo. These comparisons can encompass a wide variety of health-related interventions, including but not limited to the effects of medical devices, different surgical procedures, a range of physiotherapy techniques, and diverse dietary approaches. To ensure the robustness and reliability of the results obtained through these studies, it is imperative that patients be randomly allocated to either treatment or control groups. This process of randomization is crucial, as it plays a significant role in helping to eliminate any potential biases that might affect the outcomes, thereby increasing the credibility and scientific validity of the findings presented. When addressing the ethical and legal aspects of conducting such studies, it becomes evident that the requirements for granting ethical approval and the formal registration of clinical trials can vary significantly from one country to another, reflecting the diverse regulatory landscapes that exist globally. Therefore, it is essential that obtaining informed consent is treated not merely as a formality but as a mandatory step within the research process, ensuring that all participants are fully aware of what their involvement in the study entails. In the context of the control group, participants may either receive no treatment at all, or more commonly, they may be assigned to receive a different form of treatment or a placebo. This is done to allow for a clear and precise comparison of outcomes between those receiving the intervention and those in the control group. In circumstances where the central research question pertains specifically to the validity of a particular biomarker instead of the overall efficacy of a therapeutic intervention, the study's design often shifts its focus. In such cases, researchers give priority to the collection of relevant data, which can include an array of biomarkers, various imaging techniques, or advanced gene sequencing methods. These innovative approaches are instrumental in identifying the correlations that may exist between different genotypes and their respective phenotypes, thereby providing deeper insights into the underlying mechanisms of diseases. Ultimately, the design of each biomedical study is meticulously crafted to align with its specific objectives and overall purpose. Researchers pay careful attention to the methodological framework they adopt and the overarching research design established for the study. Every aspect of the study, from the formation of the initial research question to the comprehensive final analysis of the data collected, is carefully designed with the intention of yielding meaningful and insightful results that contribute significantly to the broader fields of medical research and patient care. By adhering to structured methodologies, researchers aim to enhance our understanding of complex biological processes and to improve health outcomes for various patient populations [169, 170, 171, 172, 173, 174, 175, 176, 177]

6.1 Phases of clinical trials

Clinical trials, which are structured and systematic research studies conducted in human beings, are specifically designed to answer targeted and highly significant questions regarding various types of interventions. These studies must adhere to strict guidelines and carefully established protocols that are legally mandatory to safeguard the rights of all participants involved, while also maintaining the integrity of the research study itself. The conduct and execution of clinical trials are rigorously regulated by a designated governmental body or independent organization in each country, which functions with the primary aim of protecting the processes involved and ensuring that the participants are shielded from any form of abuse, negligence, or breach of rights. In this specific context, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) has established a comprehensive set of guidelines that are expressly aimed at regulating the high standards of quality and integrity of health-related research. These guidelines play a crucial role in ensuring that the rights of human beings who are participating in research studies are meticulously protected throughout the entire research process. This regulatory framework is absolutely vital for maintaining ethical standards, promoting transparency, and building trust in clinical research among the public and the scientific community alike [178, 119, 179, 180, 181, 182, 183]

Medical treatment interventions that are new, experimental, or

innovative necessitate important validation processes to ensure the utmost well-being and safety of the patient. In fact, any new medical treatments, they involve novel pharmaceutical compounds, combinations of already approved medicines, or advanced medical devices, need to undergo rigorous testing before they can be considered for general use. This thorough and meticulous process of evaluation fundamentally relies on clinical trials, which are specifically designed to demonstrate both the safety and effectiveness of the intervention being investigated in painstaking detail. The design of these clinical trials can be categorized into several distinct types, each serving a unique purpose in the grand scheme of medical research: Focused trials, which represent a sustained and cumulative effort dedicated to thoroughly exploring a specific hypothesis or question at hand; Embedded trials, wherein a focused study is seamlessly integrated into a larger overarching trial, gaining insights from a broader context; Linked trials, which involve the combination of multiple focused studies into a single comprehensive analysis for the purpose of enhancing data reliability; and Markov-chain models, which are characterized by the transitions from one state to another through defined pathways. The selection of the most appropriate trial design is ultimately determined by a variety of factors, including the specific question or hypothesis posed, the careful assessment of the associated risk-benefit ratio, the establishment of well-defined experimental and control groups, and the identification of the type of endpoint or outcome measurements that need to be rigorously evaluated. All of these critical considerations are integral in ensuring that the trials conducted are not only ethical but also yield meaningful results that can significantly contribute to the advancement of medical science and the enhancement of patient care [184, 185, 186, 187, 188, 189, 190, 191, 192].

Clinical trials typically comprise a total of four distinct and significant phases, each with its specific objectives and goals. Phase 1 primarily zeroes in on assessing the safety of a particular intervention, determining the maximum tolerated dose that participants can endure, and thoroughly evaluating pharmacokinetics in human participants. This phase is crucial as it establishes the groundwork for subsequent studies. Phase 2 focuses on ascertaining the efficacy of the treatment, establishing appropriate dosing guidelines, and determining the optimal protocols for administration while simultaneously monitoring various safety metrics to ensure patient well-being. This phase is essential for understanding the therapeutic benefits of the intervention. Phase 3 entails a comprehensive evaluation of the clinical benefits along with the safety profile within a larger cohort of patients,

meticulously comparing the results against the most effective standard treatments or well-established control groups that are available. This phase provides critical data that can influence treatment protocols. Finally, Phase 4, which entails post-market surveillance activities, continues to meticulously monitor both safety and efficacy as the intervention is utilized in broader general medical practice settings, making it imperative for ongoing evaluation even after the initial trials have concluded to ensure long-term patient safety and treatment effectiveness [193, 194, 195, 196, 197, 198, 199].

6.2 Ethical considerations

With the eventual development and the widespread adoption of the Hippocratic Oath among medical professionals, physicians came to fully recognize and appreciate the significant importance of maintaining patient confidentiality and the fiduciary responsibilities that must be strictly adhered to in the practice of medicine and healthcare. Until very recently, the primary obligation of the practicing physician, as well as that of each non-physician healthcare worker, has consistently been centered around robust patient advocacy and dedicated service to those in need that is to say, the clinician's absolute and unwavering fidelity to the well-being and overall clinical health of the patient must be prioritized at all times. The role of the clinician has traditionally been viewed in relative isolation, primarily interacting directly with a patient and his or her family only during consultations and specific treatments. This limited view has often sidelined the importance of collaboration with various other healthcare team members who play vital roles in the delivery of optimal care to patients [200, 201, 202, 203, 204, 205, 206, 207].

Applications of Biomaterials in Medicine

Biomaterials can be broadly classified into two main categories: natural or synthetic substances that have been meticulously designed for the specific purpose of being seamlessly introduced into living tissue. These remarkable materials are employed in a variety of medical devices and implants, which encompass an extensive range of essential items including, but not limited to, artificial heart valves, both total and partial joint implants, coronary stents, hip stems, bone plates, as well as various types of screws designed for specific surgical applications. These specialized biomaterials exhibit unique and beneficial properties that enable them to engage in direct contact with living tissue without triggering an adverse immune rejection response. This crucial trait stands as a pivotal element in their use across a multitude of medical applications, making them invaluable components in the medical field. The ability of these materials to effectively replace damaged tissues resulting from injury, trauma, or progressive disease processes further underscores their profound importance in contemporary health care. In addition to their invaluable application in implants and invasive medical devices, biomaterials also find vital roles in numerous disposable medical devices, innovative diagnostic kits, polymeric therapeutics, and an extensive range of other groundbreaking healthcare products that significantly enhance patient care experiences. Biomaterials are not merely significant within a clinical context; they also play an essential role in the broader field of bioengineering. Bioengineering is a specialized discipline that adeptly applies engineering principles and methodologies to acquire a deeper and more comprehensive understanding of complex biological functions. This profound understanding is fundamentally vital for the ongoing and progressive development of innovative medical devices, creation of artificial tissues, and the design of sophisticated drug delivery systems that aim to improve patient health outcomes and promote overall well-being. Significant advances in the dynamic field of bioengineering have led to marked enhancements in diagnostic imaging methodologies, as well as notable improvements in the effectiveness and functionality of implantable therapeutic devices. Technologies that rely on sophisticated imaging techniques, including Computerized Tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and ultrasound technologies, have revolutionized the landscape of medical diagnostics. These groundbreaking innovations facilitate non-invasive diagnostic approaches and enable the early detection of a broad spectrum of diseases, which plays an essential role in significantly reducing patient morbidity while enhancing treatment strategies overall. Furthermore, an array of implantable devices, which include but are not limited to cardiac stimulators, prosthetic heart valves, hemodynamic monitors, stents, orthopedic implants, and drug delivery pumps, has proven to be instrumental in substantially increasing life expectancy among patients afflicted with enduring health conditions. The ongoing research and innovative developments in this captivating area of medicine are extremely promising, as more advancements are anticipated that will greatly aid in the treatment of life-threatening diseases that challenge modern society. This continuous endeavor ultimately leads to better healthcare solutions and an enhanced quality of life for individuals facing various health challenges. The potential for continued advancement in biomaterials and their applications within diverse medical and healthcare fields is vast, making this field both immensely exciting and crucial for the future of medical practices and patient care. As the ever-increasing demand for effective and safe medical interventions continues to grow, the role of biomaterials in shaping the future of healthcare becomes increasingly significant, impactful, and indispensable. 7.1. Implants and Prosthetics Biomedical engineering [34]. applies the principles of engineering and physical sciences to the design of implants and prosthetic devices that restore or augment the function of body tissues and organs. Orthopaedic implants are often used to improve a patient's quality of life by restoring mobility following disease or trauma. Hip prostheses are still the most commonly implanted orthopaedic device worldwide. Mechanical failure of the implants is a leading cause of early reoperation. Sub-optimal design and poor fixation are considered some of the main causes of failure. Bone and soft-tissue ingrowth around the prosthesis are desirable but difficult to achieve because of the inherent inertness of the materials used. Current methodologies focus on optimizing implant geometry and materials. Custom geometries and textured surfaces improve initial mechanical stability and fixation. Composite, porous, and multimaterial structures minimize mechanical property differences between bone and implant. Surface modifications with bioactive materials bioceramics, biometals, and biopolymers enhance bioactivity and bonding to surrounding tissue. Second-generation coatings promote specific cellular responses for biointegration and serve as vectors for therapeutic agent delivery including antibacterial compounds, growth factors, anti-inflammatory molecules, gene therapy constructs, and anticancer drugs. The concept of instrumented implants incorporates microelectronics to provide sensing capabilities, early warning of pending failure, and active therapeutic functions, thereby extending the role of implants well beyond basic load bearing. In vivo data collected by these devices can be used to optimize design, monitor postoperative rehabilitation, and improve treatment outcomes [208, 209, 210, 25, 37, 211, 212, 213, 214, 215]

7.2 Drug delivery systems

Drug delivery systems play an incredibly crucial and pivotal role in the effective administration of various pharmaceutical compounds, striving to achieve the desired and essential therapeutic effects that are vital for patient recovery and overall health improvement. Controlled-release systems are meticulously engineered and designed to maintain drug levels within an optimal therapeutic range, which is fundamental to ensuring that patients consistently receive effective treatment while simultaneously avoiding any potential toxicity that could arise from excessive drug accumulation. These systems are carefully tailored to localize the precise delivery of drugs at specific target sites within the body, thereby actively preventing potential harm to surrounding healthy tissues and organs. Implants, in particular, offer valuable long-term and controlled-release options that significantly enhance drug bioavailability and therapeutic strength, thereby maximizing treatment efficiency. They manage to effectively bypass numerous challenges that are commonly associated with gastrointestinal uptake, thus providing a more efficient and reliable means of drug administration. The release rate of drugs from these meticulously designed implants can be finely tailored by modifying various design parameters, which include the shape, size, and material composition, and this release rate is closely related to the inherent properties of the encapsulated pharmaceutical compound used within the delivery system. Innovative coatings, such as polycaprolactone (PCL), are commonly employed to further extend and improve the delivery profiles of these advanced systems. Additionally, with the advent of cutting-edge Three-Dimensional (3D) printing technology, the accurate fabrication of bespoke drug-eluting implants has become possible, enabling customization to meet specific patient therapeutic requirements. Such advanced implants facilitate the localized delivery of essential chemotherapeutic agents, antibiotics, or anesthetics in a highly targeted manner. When these implants are combined with appropriate coatings and advanced design techniques, they support prolonged administration that is particularly beneficial during chronic treatment regimens, which often require sustained drug levels over extended periods. This underscores the remarkable versatility and immense potential of 3D-printed medical devices within the realm of modern healthcare solutions, paving the way for innovative approaches to therapeutic interventions and enhancing patient outcomes [216, 217, 218, 219, 220, 221, 222, 223].

Advancements in Medical Imaging Technologies

Medical imaging encompasses a wide array of sophisticated techniques specifically designed to acquire detailed visual representations of the intricate and complex structures located within the human body. These essential techniques are currently implemented within clinical settings to aid in crucial functions such as accurate diagnosis, ongoing disease surveillance, effective treatment planning, and comprehensive assessment of the outcomes associated with various treatments. The entire process of imaging can be accomplished through several distinct modalities, including X-ray radiography, ultrasound, Computed Tomography (CT), Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI), nuclear medicine, and a relatively newer method now gaining attention known as electrical impedance tomography. The extensive array of existing technologies, combined with emerging innovations in the ever-evolving field of medical imaging, promises substantial support for clinical research and significantly enhances patient care overall. These advanced imaging technologies empower specialists and healthcare professionals alike to continuously monitor and keep close track of their patients' progress, enabling them to make timely, informed decisions about treatment options, all without the risk of unnecessary delays that could impact patients' well-being. Among the various imaging modalities employed today, highly sensitive magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and Computed Tomography (CT) notably stand out as the most widely utilized medical imaging techniques currently employed in practice. CT imaging effectively utilizes X-ray technology to create intricate 2-D cross-sectional images, and it employs a sophisticated method known as back projection reconstruction to ultimately develop a comprehensive 3-D representation of the anatomical structures being examined closely. Conversely, MRI is renowned for its extraordinary capability to produce images that are extremely detailed and precise regarding soft tissues, which can often pose a considerable challenge to visualize using alternative imaging modalities. MRI relies heavily on a specialized device known as the resonant radio frequency (RF) coil. This coil is essential for generating an intricate magnetic field map that is crucial during the imaging process. Noteworthy

advancements in contrast-enhanced MRI (CE-MRI) techniques have statistically enhanced the ability to visualize various diseases associated with the vascular system, including significant conditions such as atherosclerosis and various types of tumors that may arise. Additionally, MRI techniques have evolved substantially to facilitate the quantification of pathological changes that are relevant to the accurate diagnosis of osteoarthritis. Comprehensive information regarding the biochemical state, as well as critical physiological processes occurring within cartilage, can be indirectly assessed through a variety of innovative techniques such as dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI, delayed gadolinium-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging of cartilage, and T2 relaxation time mapping, among others. In the broad and rapidly evolving realm of ultrasound imaging, this method is characterized by the use of high-frequency sound waves, which are emitted from a sophisticated transducer. These sound waves pass through different bodily tissues, are reflected back by different tissue interfaces, and that reflection creates characteristic echoes that are then methodically recorded and analyzed to form a clear, coherent image. The evolving field of medical imaging continues to expand and develop rapidly, contributing significantly to a multitude of advancements in both clinical practice and patient outcomes, ultimately transforming the landscape of healthcare delivery [224, 225, 226, 227, 228, 229, 230, 231, 232]

8.1 MRI and CT scans

MRI has emerged as one of the most widely utilized imaging modalities in clinical practice today, transforming how medical professionals in various specialties approach diagnostics. This technology has become indispensable tool for healthcare providers, primarily due to its capacity to generate high-resolution images that reveal intricate details about the body's internal structures. Different specialized MRI sequences are employed consistently in daily medical practice, each tailored to provide crucial information regarding the anatomic, physiological, and even metabolic characteristics of diverse tissues. The use of contrast-enhanced MRI techniques is prevalent and particularly advantageous, as it significantly improves the diagnostic capabilities of this imaging method by allowing for a clearer distinction between normal and abnormal tissue characteristics. Specific MR imaging approaches have been meticulously developed to cater to unique areas of interest, such as cardiovascular imaging, body imaging, and cartilage imaging, each offering specialized insights into the structures and functions of these critical components within the human body. Largescale advancements in biomedical engineering within this sphere heavily rely on the two primary signal sources that contribute to the generation of images: nuclear magnetic resonance and ultrasonics. The technological progress involved has facilitated the emergence of innovative imaging techniques that are continuously enhancing the field of medical diagnostics. Computed Tomography (CT) scanning also plays a vital role in modern medical imaging, as it provides the capability to perform fast and costeffective three-dimensional characterizations of various tissues and organ systems across patients. Several contrast agents are utilized during the CT scanning process to enhance the overall quality and clarity of the images produced, ensuring that healthcare providers receive the most accurate visual representations of their patients' differing conditions and statuses. This clarity is essential for effective diagnosis and treatment planning. Furthermore, the application of X-ray computer-assisted tomography, commonly known as CAT scans, stands as one of the classical yet significant examples of biomedical engineering innovations successfully integrated into clinical practice over the years. Since the introduction of the first usable CT machine, the field has experienced numerous advancements in scanner design and technology, leading to the rapid acquisition of precise datasets that significantly aid both in diagnosis and in the planning of patient treatment. These technological developments continue to push the boundaries of what is possible in medical imaging and enhance the overall quality of patient care delivered by modern healthcare professionals. Thus, the evolution of MRI and CT technologies illustrates a remarkable journey towards achieving optimal imaging solutions, profoundly impacting how diseases and conditions are diagnosed and managed [224, 32, 233, 27, 224, 234, 235, 236, 229]

8.2 Ultrasound innovations

Ultrasound has become an increasingly popular and widely available clinical imaging modality in recent years, owing to its numerous advantages and advancements in technology. New diagnostic applications of ultrasound have been developed significantly, and several emerging techniques now provide early markers for a variety of diseases. In particular, ultrasound investigations play an important and vital role in the timely diagnosis and management of various urological diseases. Over the last decade, ultrasound technology has rapidly evolved, leading to the implementation of several innovative imaging techniques on advanced ultrasound scanners. These new techniques, which include tissue harmonic imaging, spatial compound imaging, three-dimensional and four-dimensional ultrasound, among others, open up new perspectives and significantly expand the clinical applications

of ultrasound in the field of urology. Moreover, the functional applications of ultrasound including contrast-enhanced ultrasound, elastography, endoscopic ultrasound, and fusion imaging are leading to the establishment of new clinical guidelines in the management of numerous urological diseases. Given that ultrasound is a rapid, effective, portable, and safe imaging technique, it has become a pioneering modality for the guidance of interventional procedures as well as therapeutic applications in urology. High-intensity focused ultrasound is currently utilized to ablate tumors in both the prostate and kidney, demonstrating its effectiveness in targeting pathological tissues. Additionally, since ultrasound allows the propagation of acoustic beams throughout the body, the ultrasound power can be innovatively harnessed to activate devices deep within the body without the need for the implantation of batteries, showcasing its versatility in modern medicine [237, 238, 239].

The Role of Robotics in Surgery

Robotic assisted surgery, which first emerged in the 1980s, has undergone significant evolution over the decades and continues to grow as new and innovative applications for this remarkable and cutting-edge technology become increasingly available. The benefits of robotic surgery are numerous, noteworthy, and carefully considered by medical professionals and patients alike, including the ability to perform operations with a far less invasive procedure compared to traditional methods, which typically leads to much quicker recovery times for patients and minimizes their overall hospital stay. Additionally, state-of-the-art robotic systems provide greater precision and dexterity in challenging locations within the human body that can often be difficult to access with more conventional surgical techniques. The technology underlying robotic surgery allows for the careful scaling of movements, which results in steadier control and significantly minimizes the risk of human error during complex procedures. Furthermore, an increasing number of diverse surgical operations are being performed utilizing an array of various forms of robotic technology, delivering enhanced capabilities and improved surgical outcomes. These procedures range widely, encompassing everything from intricate dental surgeries and orthopedic interventions to even highly specialized microsurgery of critical components situated within the central nervous system. Moreover, the recent advent of remote surgery offers groundbreaking and exciting possibilities, with the promise of enabling expert surgeons to operate on patients who may be located across vast continents, thereby effectively bridging geographical gaps and improving healthcare access for individuals who might otherwise have limited options. This technological evolution in robotic assistance not only enhances the quality of surgical care but also emphasizes the continuous drive toward better, safer, and more efficient medical practices as we advance into an era defined by innovation in medicine [240, 241, 242, 243, 244, 245, 246, 247]

The development of robotic-assisted surgery systems is intricately built upon the earlier pioneering work that incorporated the use of a sophisticated surgical microscope, which helped surgeons perform their operations more effectively. Over the years, numerous experimental robotic systems were meticulously designed and constructed with the aim of significantly enhancing the overall quality, efficiency, and precision of surgical procedures. Progress in this cutting-edge field was initially slow and cautious at first, mainly due to various technical limitations, as well as the considerable challenges associated with integrating new and innovative technologies into established medical practices and protocols. However, everything dramatically changed with the groundbreaking introduction of advanced robotic systems like the da Vinci Surgical System and the ZEUS Surgical System. The widespread acceptance and successful implementation of these innovative robotic systems has not only transformed surgical practices as we know them but has also resulted in a remarkable surge in development and an increase in research initiatives within the expanding realm of robotic surgery. Surgical innovator, Charles Sutcliffe, passionately claims that future advances in robotics may one day allow for fully autonomous operations, which would lead to a substantial revolution in how surgeries are performed and experienced by patients. The next major technological milestone that the field is ambitiously aspiring to achieve involves successfully developing the capability for a robot to perform intricate and complex surgeries independently, without the need for direct human control or intervention. This groundbreaking advancement could open entirely new frontiers in surgical possibilities, enhance patient outcomes, and significantly improve the overall standard of patient care in the future [248, 249, 246, 67, 247, 250, 66, 251]

9.1 Robotic-assisted surgery

In today's rapidly evolving modern healthcare systems, the clinical applications of biomedical engineering play a crucial and significantly impactful role in the diagnosis and treatment of a wide array of diseases, the effective management of chronic conditions, and the overall quality of life experienced by patients, particularly for those who are living with various physical disabilities. Biomedical engineering dedicates a substantial portion of its efforts to the ongoing development of innovative technologies that strive to optimize the effectiveness and efficiency of healthcare delivery processes. This goal is pursued through the creation of essential diagnostic and therapeutic equipment, advanced medical implants, custom-designed prostheses, and sophisticated software systems specifically crafted to monitor patients' health and ensure their overall well-being. The wave of technological innovations witnessed in multiple fields, such as bariatric surgery, cardiology, maxillofacial surgery, neurosurgery, and vascular

surgery, serves as clear and compelling examples that illustrate the vital contributions made by biomedical engineering in enhancing healthcare services across the globe. These remarkable advancements have not only revolutionized patient care but have also led to increased surgical precision and ultimately augmented the health outcomes of diverse populations worldwide. Such innovations continue to drive progress in medical science, highlighting the indispensable role that biomedical engineering plays in shaping a healthier future for patients everywhere [252, 134, 253, 4, 17, 20, 254, 255].

Biomedical engineering encompasses a wide array of technical fields and numerous clinical applications, all of which are intricately connected to the overarching goal of significantly improving health and enhancing the overall quality of life for individuals. The broad range of disciplines that fall under the umbrella of biomedical engineering includes, but is certainly not limited to, biomaterials, biomechanics, medical imaging, tissue engineering, and rehabilitation engineering. These specific and specialized fields contribute to a vast array of innovative products and advanced technologies that are guided by each individual specialty. Collectively, these specialties have resulted in significant and transformative biomedical innovations that have changed the healthcare landscape in impactful ways. The continuous expansion of clinical applications in emerging areas, such as wearable health technologies and remote patient monitoring, is made possible and practical through the innovative engineering approaches being developed today by dedicated professionals in the field. This burgeoning field has immense potential to not only preserve human health but also to promote more personalized and targeted treatment options that are carefully tailored to meet the unique needs of individual patients. Furthermore, sustained research and development efforts in the ever-evolving realm of biomedical engineering will enable the discovery of new materials and the creation of groundbreaking devices designed specifically to enhance the accuracy of disease diagnosis and significantly improve treatment efficacy. Ultimately, this dynamic intersection of engineering and healthcare continues to pave the way for revolutionary advancements that can fundamentally change the landscape of medical practice, ushering in a new era where multidisciplinary collaboration drives progress and innovation for the betterment of society as a whole. The ongoing integration of engineering principles with biological sciences stands as a testament to the remarkable possibilities that lie ahead in healthcare outcomes and elevating human unprecedented levels of achievement [256, 257, 132, 258, 259, 20, 260, 129, 261, 262]

Biomedical engineers inherently possess a diverse array of technical

skills that contribute greatly to the fields of disease prevention and health promotion. These engineers apply their expertise in innovative ways that capitalize on a vast pool of scientific knowledge. The discipline of biomedical engineering continues to undergo rapid advancements, which are spurred by the ongoing growth of computational capabilities and sophisticated data analysis techniques. Additionally, advancements in biomechanics and the development of innovative biomaterials are reshaping the landscape of medical technology. This dynamic evolution is creating an increasing demand for engineers who are eager to make a positive impact on the health and safety of both human and animal populations alike. As the complexities of health-related challenges grow, a more comprehensive and nuanced understanding of contemporary biomedical advances and ongoing trends has become increasingly essential. This knowledge is of critical significance not only to engineers but also to clinicians and practitioners who are engaged in both research endeavors and clinical work. Their collaboration is essential for translating theoretical advances into practical applications that can benefit patients directly. The primary objective in biology and medicine remains fundamentally the same: to gain profound insights into complex physical and biochemical processes, starting from the cellular level and expanding outward to encompass entire systems. By harnessing this knowledge effectively, practitioners aim to promote early diagnosis, personalized care, and tailored treatments for individual patients in order to significantly enhance health outcomes. This approach not only improves the effectiveness of medical interventions but also fosters a more patient-centric model of healthcare delivery, ensuring that each patient receives the most appropriate and effective care based on their unique needs and circumstances. The integration of engineering principles into medical practice stands as a testament to the critical role that this interdisciplinary field plays in the advancement of healthcare solutions for the future [263, 264, 265, 6, 266, 132, 267, 268, 269]

9.2 Future trends in surgical robotics

The discipline of robotics has recently embarked on an extraordinary journey, expanding its range of applications to encompass crucial medical interventions that are becoming ever more sophisticated. Initially, the primary efforts were concentrated on adapting modified industrial arms for use in tele-operation scenarios, in which a human operator maintains full control over the robotic actions taking place in real time. As the field progressed, a significant realization emerged: the understanding that constrained autonomy could significantly enhance the level of surgical

assistance provided by robots. This insight led to the development of systems capable of guiding surgical tools along predetermined trajectories or accurately maintaining instruments focused on specific anatomical targets during critical procedures. As research continued to advance, the concept of an even more sophisticated level of assistance materialized. In this advanced paradigm, the surgeon could shift their focus towards the critical tasks of detecting intricate anatomical features and engaging in high-level surgical planning. Meanwhile, they could delegate lower-level execution tasks to fully autonomous robotic systems that are precisely designed to handle such responsibilities. In the realm of surgical robotics, the terms "automation" and "autonomy" reference the extent to which control over the surgical procedure is transitioned from the human operator to the advanced robotic machine. The levels of autonomy showcased in these systems can range widely, from basic tele-manipulation to various forms of constrained motions, ultimately culminating in the complete execution of various task phases without the necessity of human intervention at all. It is genuinely intriguing to envision that future generations of robotic platforms will progressively present an expanding array of opportunities. Such innovations may cover the entire spectrum of autonomy, ranging from implementing active constraints that effectively prevent the operator from moving beyond pre-defined safe regions to achieving fully autonomous execution of intricate surgical gestures. Intermediate instances could involve the robotic manipulation of specific tools, which would serve to complement traditional surgical instruments, thereby enhancing overall surgical outcomes. From a historical perspective, it is evident that the scientific and technological foundations of the field continue to evolve rapidly. Significant developments are anticipated in the upcoming two decades across both technical and clinical domains, which will undoubtedly reshape the landscape of surgical interventions. However, as we continue to innovate and integrate these advanced robotics into medical practices, it is equally essential to address the limitations related to covariate shift adaptation. These constraints become particularly important when dealing with biomedical signals and images, such as EEG, ECG, EMG, MRI, and X-ray, which are widely utilized in the fields of telemedicine, diagnostics, and therapeutic guidance systems. As we strive to optimize these technologies, understanding and overcoming these limitations will be crucial for the successful implementation and overall efficacy of robotic systems in medicine [240, 256, 270].

Wearable Health Technology

Wearable devices and smartwatches have revolutionized the way we monitor health over an extended period, enabling continuous tracking and offering novel insights that may prove essential for diagnosing various diseases and enhancing overall health outcomes. These advanced devices are designed to continuously monitor crucial diagnostic indicators that are vital for health evaluation, including respiratory rate, pulse rate, and daily glucose levels. The importance of personal calibration cannot be overstated, as individual health differences necessitate tailored approaches to ensure accurate readings. Smarter designs or computational methodologies can significantly improve the tolerance to potential misalignments, which, if unaddressed, could lead to a decline in measurement accuracy. Recent advances in sensor technology, battery longevity, and innovative materials have significantly improved the durability and robustness of these wearable devices, allowing them to function effectively in a wide array of environmental conditions. The ongoing trend towards developing smaller, lighter, and more seamlessly integrated devices is a crucial factor that supports efficient performance, even when operating in limited spaces. Insights gleaned from both clinical research and consumer experiences related to wearable biomedical devices have led to significant advancements in diagnostics and the overall quality of healthcare provided to patients. Remote patient monitoring that is continuous, long-term, and noninvasive has the potential to greatly reduce medical expenses while facilitating personalized healthcare solutions that particularly benefit the elderly population. Additionally, wearable devices play a pivotal role in monitoring individuals suffering from conditions such as post-traumatic stress disorder, anxiety, obesity, and asthma. They also allow for early diagnosis of various medical conditions, including sleep apnea and Parkinson's disease. By delivering instant feedback, these devices serve as a replacement for traditional subjective questionnaires that often rely on personal accounts. A number of wearable devices that have received FDA approval now measure various aspects of health, including sleep quality, physical activity, and vital signs such as electrocardiograms, heart rate, and respiratory rates. Wearables contribute significantly to the diagnosis and management of sleep disorders, dementia, and arrhythmias, thereby enhancing the capabilities of healthcare systems. Ongoing clinical trials are exploring novel applications for physiological signal detection, and exciting new products like temperature, heart rate, and glucose monitoring tattoos are currently under development, showcasing the innovative spirit in this field. However, it is essential that any new technologies meet regulatory requirements, which serve as a prerequisite for successfully integrating wearable functionalities into existing healthcare systems [124, 271, 272, 273, 274, 275, 276, 277, 278]

10.1 Fitness trackers

Fitness trackers and smartwatches represent some of the most exciting advancements in wearable biosensing systems that are aimed not only at enhancing individual health and wellness but also at integrating these aspects into our daily lives in new and innovative ways. While fitness trackers primarily focus on a single modality, such as step counting or heart rate monitoring, smartwatches, on the other hand, deliver a much broader and more diverse range of applications and functionalities that include multiple sensor measurements and features. Additionally, smartwatches have the remarkable capability to connect seamlessly with various devices and smartphones, which effectively expands their utility and overall appeal to users of all ages. These wearable health trackers hold immense potential and could significantly contribute to health promotion and awareness, especially in the influential realm of chronic disease prevention, by actively encouraging and enabling users to monitor their physical activity, daily routines, and overall well-being in a highly effective manner. Through these innovations, individuals can take charge of their health like never before, making informed choices that benefit their lifestyles [279, 280, 281, 282, 283, 284, 285].

At present, there exists a wide array of feedback and motivational strategies, which prominently include the provision of constructive feedback concerning physical activity levels as well as continuous progress made towards achieving personal health objectives, all of which can lead to substantial alterations in health behaviors. The introduction and innovative development of a smartphone application specifically designed for obesity management, in strict adherence to established clinical guidelines, unquestionably plays a vital role in this respect. Nevertheless, various studies have disclosed mixed outcomes regarding the capability of contemporary wearable sensors in promoting or facilitating meaningful health behavior modifications. A majority of these studies typically report an elevated level of acceptability and user-friendliness; however, they simultaneously indicate

a troubling trend regarding low adherence rates and inadequate sustained behavior changes among users over time. This inconsistency continues to be a critical area requiring further investigation and exploration. It emphasizes the pressing need for additional research focused on the overall effectiveness of these cutting-edge technologies in successfully promoting long-term health improvements for users in various demographics [286, 287, 288, 289, 290, 291, 292]

Research concerning the technical performance of wearable devices is quite conflicting, as numerous studies have emerged with divergent and sometimes contrasting conclusions. Some studies confidently conclude that these devices do indeed offer accurate, precise, and/or medically beneficial information, effectively supporting their integration into health monitoring practices in various contexts. Conversely, however, other studies provide contrary conclusions, raising significant concerns about the reliability and validity of the data these devices generate and present to users. Despite the recent advancements in the field of microelectronics, along with the substantial potential of wireless and wearable sensor-based systems to continuously monitor vital health signals in free-living conditions across diverse environments, reaching a general consensus regarding the readiness and overall efficacy of such low-cost consumer-grade activity trackers for critical medical use and personal health monitoring appears to be quite a challenging endeavor. The ongoing evolution of technology has undoubtedly led to significant progress in the development of smart wearable medical devices that cater to an extensive range of applications, from basic fitness tracking to the more complex management of chronic diseases. Nevertheless, updates on the precision and overall accuracy of currently available commercial wearable devices suggest that users should approach the information provided by these devices with a degree of caution. This highlights the importance of not overinterpreting or overly relying on the data presented by these devices when making significant health-related decisions. Balancing innovation with ensuring accurate and reliable monitoring continues to be a pivotal challenge within the rapidly evolving realm of wearable technology, impacting both consumers and health professionals alike [276, 293, 294, 295, 296, 297, 298].

10.2 Smartwatches in health monitoring

Wearable technology has increasingly gained prominence and become an essential component of ongoing health monitoring in modern society, with smartwatches occupying a prominent and vital role in this evolving domain. The embedded sensors found within these innovative devices are

capable of tracking a wide array of metrics, such as the total number of steps taken throughout the day, estimating overall energy expenditure during various activities as well as moments of rest, monitoring heart rate in realtime, assessing the levels of physical activity engaged in, and analysing sleep patterns to better understand the overall quality of rest experienced by users. the peripheral capabilities of smartwatches such as touchscreens, speakers, and built-in audio recorders greatly facilitate user feedback while enabling a broad range of interactive tasks that enhance overall user engagement in their health journeys. Furthermore, Bluetooth connectivity provides seamless pairing with a variety of external health sensors, including but not limited to thermometers, blood pressure monitors, oximeters, and ECG devices. This capability dramatically extends the range of health monitoring applications available to users, significantly enriching their capability to obtain health data. Advances in sensor technology particularly developments in flexible sensors and innovative electronic skins are currently under active exploration for potential integration into wristworn devices, promising to enhance their overall functionality even further and make them even more indispensable. Certain cutting-edge models even incorporate an on-board electrode assembly specifically designed for ECG spot-checks; however, it should be noted that continuous monitoring generally remains primarily the province of supplementary hardware, which may often offer more comprehensive and detailed health insights over extended periods, thus providing users with a well-rounded approach to their health monitoring needs [299, 300, 301, 104, 302, 278, 303].

Remote monitoring systems seamlessly integrate a variety of stationary technologies, which are meticulously designed for the robust collection of crucial information that pertains to both the internal and external environments of the home. In parallel, smartwatches emerge as a remarkably convenient and portable form factor, specifically tailored to allow for on-thego tracking of health and activity metrics without any hassle. These single-function commercial devices typically consist of two main components: a sensor unit, which diligently gathers specific data, and a display or computing unit that plays a pivotal role in processing and showcasing the collected information in a user-friendly manner. The sensor takes on the important task of accurately measuring a variable of interest, such as heart rate, temperature, or humidity levels, and subsequently transmits this critical data to a processing unit for further processing. This data transfer can occur through an intermediary device, such as a smartphone or tablet, or it can go directly to a remote server where further analysis can be performed. Once

this data is collected and processed, it can be accessed remotely through a variety of means. Users can review their information through a web browser, an easily accessible app installed on either their mobile phone or smartwatch, or through instantaneous alerts designed to notify users in real time. This well-structured technological infrastructure not only facilitates patient-centred care but also promotes convenient and unobtrusive in-vivo data collection while respecting user privacy. The information acquired through remote monitoring can then be efficiently leveraged by healthcare professionals, enabling them to make informed decisions regarding patient care and diagnosis. Ultimately, this process enhances the quality of healthcare delivery, paving the way for improved outcomes and more personalized treatment plans that cater to the unique needs of each individual patient [304, 305, 306, 307, 308, 309, 310].

Telemedicine and Remote Patient Monitoring

The 21st century has undeniably witnessed an impressive surge of clinical applications specifically designed for telemedicine and remote patient monitoring, marking a significant evolution in the delivery of healthcare services. This innovative subfield of telemedicine employs advanced information technology and various communication platforms to ensure the provision of high-quality healthcare remotely, reaching patients wherever they may be and optimizing their access to medical professionals. The remarkable innovations in this field cover a vast spectrum of tools and techniques, ranging from the continuous monitoring of vital signs to the implementation of electronic stethoscopes, advanced ultrasound scanning, and other sophisticated diagnostic instruments. Notably, clinical-quality data can now be conveniently acquired in the comfort of domestic environments and transmitted securely to medical professionals for precise diagnosis and effective treatment, which significantly circumvents the need for traditional hospital visits that can often be cumbersome and time-consuming. In this contemporary landscape, automatic data processing and transmission have become widespread and highly efficient, allowing for real-time updates and swift responses from healthcare providers. Specific medical conditions, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), are effectively targeted through continuous monitoring of physiological parameters, which are seamlessly combined with real-time decision support based on intricate clinical algorithms. As a result, the patients' health status is thoroughly and accurately assessed, providing a comprehensive view of their wellbeing, while physicians are alerted immediately when deterioration is detected or clinically relevant trends are identified, enabling prompt intervention and adjustments. Furthermore, ongoing technological advancements continue to improve the power requirements, battery capacity, size, and overall user acceptance of the instrumentation used in this field. Signal processing algorithms are constantly being developed to enhance the realtime removal of artifacts and noise, ensuring that the data received is both accurate and reliable for clinical interpretation. The robustness of wireless data transmission has significantly improved, characterized by minimal losses and a user-friendly plug-and-play operation model that fosters ease of use among a broad demographic. However, despite these remarkable advancements and conveniences, the privacy and security of medical data remains a critical issue that cannot be overlooked; hence, it is imperative that the entire system is meticulously designed to preclude any unwanted violations or breaches, maintaining the trust and safety of patients engaging with telemedicine services [311, 312, 313, 314, 315, 316, 317, 318, 319].

11.1 Technological innovations

Biomedical Engineering (BME) is an innovative field that involves the application of various principles and problem-solving techniques derived from engineering disciplines to the realms of biology and medicine. The clinical applications of BME are vast and significantly impact human health, including the diagnosis and treatment of a wide range of diseases and the alleviation of suffering experienced by patients. A specialized subdiscipline of BME, known as bioengineering, focuses specifically on the intricate processes that occur within living organisms and how these processes can be understood and manipulated for medical benefit. The overarching goals of biomedical engineering encompass several critical areas, including the enhancement of public health, advancements in prevention and intervention strategies, and improvements in overall quality of life. This includes dedicated care for individuals living with chronic diseases and those who have sustained disabilities due to various causes such as accidents, trauma, or congenital birth defects. As an ever-evolving academic discipline, biomedical engineering is represented by a diverse array of departments and schools that specialize in medical engineering, medical technology, clinical engineering, bioengineering, and, importantly, biomedical engineering itself. The systems and processes we study within biology are extraordinarily complex, and currently, our understanding of these biological systems and their functions is still in its infancy when compared to the more established, long-studied physical and chemical sciences that have provided a wealth of knowledge over many years [4, 254, 17, 320, 20, 255, 321].

The physiology and pathology of the human body not only depend on the biochemical reactions within the body but ultimately on the physical motion of the body. For instance, the hemodynamics of a human heart depends on the beating motion of the mitral valve as well as the biochemical properties of the blood fluid passing through. Paths of biomedical engineering explore the human body from different points of view. Furthermore, a person's body is enveloped by an environment in which the body not only has to live but also has to interact with all humans who live in

it. Historical developments concerning the impact of environmental elements, natural disasters, and climatic conditions on human health are established from recent earthquakes, outbreaks of Hantavirus, and generally rapid climatic changes [322, 323, 324].

The primary clinical applications of biomedical engineering encompass a diverse range of fields, including biomaterials, biomechanics, medical imaging, tissue engineering, and rehabilitation engineering. Each of these areas plays a vital role in advancing medical practice and enhancing patient outcomes. In addition to these essential clinical applications, biomedical devices, which are designed for either diagnostic or therapeutic purposes, form a fundamental part of comprehensive patient care. Diagnostic devices, including various forms of radiology equipment, are crucial for facilitating early diagnosis of medical conditions and, as a result, are often lifesaving for patients facing serious health challenges. Therapeutic devices, such as pacemakers, stents, infusion pumps, and lasers, are integral to providing necessary therapy and have significantly improved the quality of life for countless patients. Monitoring devices, such as heart rate monitors and blood pressure monitors, while they do not directly treat or diagnose diseases, play an important role by providing vital information that can guide clinical decisions and patient management. Furthermore, the regulation of biomedical devices is critical in ensuring that clinically acceptable and safe devices are utilized on patients, thus also offering them necessary safeguards against potentially faulty products. The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is responsible for determining the safety and efficacy of medical products in the United States, ensuring that only devices proven to be safe and effective reach the marketplace for use. In a similar fashion, the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) has established a comprehensive group of standards specifically pertaining to medical devices, which helps maintain quality and safety. Additionally, clinical trials are an essential component of the process of developing new drugs and devices, providing the necessary research and evidence to support their use in medical settings [143, 325, 326, 327, 144].

11.2 Impact on patient care

Biomedical engineering plays an incredibly vital and transformative role in revolutionizing patient care within the healthcare system by seamlessly integrating intricate and advanced engineering principles with clinical sciences to create, design, and innovate systems and devices that significantly enhance the overall quality and efficiency of healthcare delivery across numerous contexts. This interdisciplinary field not only applies a

comprehensive body of knowledge but also encompasses diverse areas such as biomaterials, biomechanics, cutting-edge medical imaging techniques, intricate tissue engineering processes, and effective rehabilitation engineering, all of which serve to encourage and facilitate meaningful collaboration between skilled engineers and seasoned clinicians throughout the various stages of device design, systematic development, and thorough evaluation. Biomedical engineers stand at the innovative forefront of this remarkable field, having developed groundbreaking medical instruments, highly functional artificial organs, sophisticated imaging equipment, and advanced biocompatible materials that collectively contribute substantially earlier diagnosis, improved management, and more effective therapy of a wide array of medical conditions, thereby playing an essential part in shaping the future of healthcare. Their work not only enhances current medical practices but also paves the way for new therapies and technologies that will further advance patient care and outcomes [1, 135, 328, 329, 3, 330, 4]

Ethical Issues in Biomedical Engineering

Biomedical engineering inevitably raises significant and multifaceted ethical concerns for engineers, manufacturers, patients, and clinical personnel alike. This complex realm of medical devices, which ranges from simple pacemakers to cutting-edge advanced radiation-therapy systems, necessitates a deep and unwavering respect for patient privacy, as these devices serve as critical information systems that not only obtain but also produce vital health data. When clinical engineers engage in research projects, safeguarding subject confidentiality is not just an additional task but a fundamental and essential requirement that cannot be overlooked. Furthermore, clinical engineering plays a pivotal and indispensable role in actively supporting the intricate processes of informed consent and in assisting ethical review committees, thereby ensuring that ethical standards are upheld and rigorously maintained throughout all stages of development and implementation of these medical technologies. These responsibilities and obligations highlight the paramount importance of ethical considerations in the rapidly evolving and transformative field of biomedical engineering, which continues to progress at an unprecedented pace [331, 332, 333, 334, 17, 335, 255].

12.1 Patient privacy

The Electronic Medical Record (EMR) represents a substantial and significant resource with considerable research potential. This potential is particularly notable, especially in the context of effectively minimizing the risks associated with unauthorized access to sensitive individual health information. Historically, researchers engaged in this field have often had to rely on a manual process to abstract information, and in doing so, they frequently captured excessive amounts of data. This approach was intended to mitigate potential omissions in the information gathered, but it often unfortunately led to the compromise of patient confidentiality and privacy in numerous instances. With the evolution of medical research practices, current regulations in the United States, which include the Common Rule alongside the HIPAA privacy rules, now permit and allow for research activities that utilize electronic medical records in conjunction with

biological specimens that may have been collected during the course of clinical care. Importantly, this can occur all without the explicit requirement of obtaining patient consent or undergoing prior Institutional Review Board (IRB) assessment. Such important laws come with the stipulation that they specifically define a human subject as any living individual from whom identifiable private information is obtained during the ongoing course of research activities. This framework has opened up new avenues for researchers to conduct their work while striving to maintain the necessary safeguards for patient privacy and confidentiality, which are of utmost importance in the medical field [336, 337, 338, 339, 340, 341, 342, 343].

The worldwide mobile-health application market has expanded markedly following the rise of smartphones as pervasive computing platforms. As wearable and implantable medical devices have advanced, an increasing number of mobile-health applications require integration with clinical practice, involving Personal-Health Records (PHRs) interoperable with Electronic-Health Records (EHRs) and electronic-medical records (EMRs). Big-data analytics and cloud computing consequently support efficient analysis and storage, heralding the promise of personalized healthcare. Ensuring the security of medical data within digital-health systems remains critical; the U.S. Food and Drug Administration underscores the necessity of secure transmission for device safety, and legislation including the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act protects EMR/EHRs from unauthorized disclosure. Despite technological progress, the security and dependability of these systems require further investigation. Recent cyberattacks have demonstrated the feasibility of wirelessly communicating with Implantable-Cardioverter Defibrillators (ICDs) to modify therapeutic settings or extract sensitive patient information. The proliferation of miniature implantable devices exacerbates security concerns, as current biomedical-engineering disciplines do not yet guarantee robustness against adversarial threats [344, 345, 346, 347, 348, 349, 350]

12.2 Informed consent

In the healthcare setting, the essential concept of informed consent plays a vital role in ensuring that a patient fully understands and agrees to the various risks, benefits, and alternatives involved in a specific medical intervention. To be deemed eligible for informed consent, the patient must possess the competence to make an autonomous and informed decision. This competence is generally defined as the ability to understand, retain, weigh, and effectively communicate relevant information related to their health care

choices. The process of obtaining informed consent entails a direct and thorough consent conversation between the healthcare provider and the patient. During this essential dialogue, the patient's diagnosis, prognosis, and available treatment options must be discussed in detail, including the option to decline treatment altogether if they so choose. Additionally, it is crucial to cover the nature of the treatment options, as well as the risks, benefits, and uncertainties associated with all proposed treatments, ensuring that the patient is well-informed and able to make a decision that aligns with their values and wishes [351, 352, 353, 354, 355].

In clinical research, informed consent is similarly required when a potential subject confirms their willingness to participate after being thoroughly informed of all relevant aspects and implications of the study. This critical process is documented through a signed and dated form that is written in easily understandable language. Additionally, sufficient time is provided for careful consideration to ensure that participants fully comprehend what their involvement entails [356, 357].

Numerous approaches have been thoroughly described for effectively implementing informed consent in various clinical settings. Patient preparedness importantly emerges as a crucial predictor of surgical outcomes, revealing how well-informed patients tend to fare better postsurgery. Furthermore, the mode of information delivery significantly impacts the patients' overall understanding of the information presented to them. Multimedia interventions, which include a combination of visual, auditory, and textual media, can enhance patient comprehension far beyond what verbal explanations alone can achieve. In the context of first-in-human trials particularly those involving irreversible interventions or associated with high risks patients often find themselves unsure about what specific questions to ask. Consequently, the consent process needs to be designed in such a way that it empowers them to thoroughly assess the harm-benefit ratios involved in their treatment options. Additionally, this process should be tailored to each individual's educational background and cognitive capacity to ensure correct interpretation of the information provided to them [358, 359, 360, 361].

Future Directions in Biomedical Engineering

Biomedical Engineering is widely regarded as one of the most exciting and swiftly evolving fields that is dramatically shaping the future landscape of medicine and healthcare as a collective entity. This fascinating domain of study encompasses the integration of engineering principles with biological sciences, allowing for the development of innovative solutions aimed at improving patient outcomes. As applications in this dynamic discipline continue to expand and innovative technologies are progressively developed, the potential to greatly enhance patient care, significantly improve overall quality of life, and positively transform health economics continues to grow in tandem. This convergence of technology and healthcare is paving the way for unprecedented advancements in diagnostics, treatment methodologies, and healthcare delivery systems. However, the full extent of these incredible opportunities is not yet fully realizable at this current point in time, because the ongoing technological advancements and scientific transitions are still unfolding before us in real-time. Moreover, the rapid pace of progress often outstrips our understanding of the implications of these innovations. Furthermore, their multifaceted impacts on biomedical sciences and practical healthcare applications remain to be explored comprehensively and understood in great detail in order to maximize their effectiveness and ensure that we harness their true transformative power for the benefit of society. It is essential for researchers, practitioners, and policymakers alike to work collaboratively to navigate these evolving challenges and embrace new paradigms in order to unlock the vast potential offered by this remarkable field of study, ultimately leading to better health outcomes for individuals and communities alike. Through dedicated cooperative efforts, innovative solutions can be realized, promoting advancements that will enhance healthcare systems globally and address pressing health needs in diverse populations [34, 362, 132, 4, 10, 133, 363, 364, 20]

At present, the accumulation of multidisciplinary knowledge, along with continuous technological innovations, is leading to a myriad of promising trends and groundbreaking solutions that possess the potential to bring about transformative effects on the field of medical care. Among the various subjects that are receiving significant attention in today's healthcare landscape, artificial intelligence emerges as exceptionally promising within the realm of clinical applications. This technology, when effectively combined with the ongoing paradigm shift toward personalized medicine, holds the remarkable capacity to fundamentally reshape the practice of medicine as we know it. The intersection of these advancements creates new opportunities for improved patient outcomes and more efficient healthcare practices, paving the way for a future that is not only more innovative but also highly responsive to individual patient needs [365, 366, 367, 368].

13.1 Artificial intelligence in medicine

Artificial Intelligence (AI) has rapidly emerged as a truly transformative and novel tool in the expansive field of medicine. The interest in AI technology is mounting significantly among a diverse array of stakeholders, including not only clinicians and healthcare practitioners but also healthcare administrators, investors, researchers, and regulatory bodies. These individuals and groups are increasingly considering the crucial role that AI technology plays in enhancing clinical decision-making processes. However, the complexity of some advanced algorithms, coupled with their inherent lack of transparency, and the notable absence of rigorous prospective validation may understandably raise concerns and dishearten many physicians and healthcare professionals who wish to implement such technologies responsibly. Despite these challenges, AI possesses a wide array of potential applications across multiple domains and areas, such as automated radiology reporting, predictive analytics, surgical robotics, medical education and training, as well as the intricate and lengthy processes involved in drug discovery and development. The overarching goal of integrating AI into healthcare is to assist clinicians in making betterinformed, more individualized and personalized decisions that cater to the unique needs of each individual patient. This, in turn, leads to improvements in workflow efficiency, enhances patient outcomes, and ultimately contributes to reducing overall healthcare costs. In high-pressure and demanding environments like Intensive Care Units (ICUs), AI technologies support three primary types of machine learning methodologies namely supervised, unsupervised, and reinforcement learning which work together in tandem to analyze vast amounts of data and generate actionable knowledge. Supervised learning, in particular, requires accurately labeled data for effective analysis and is often applied to predict critical outcomes such as the elevated risk of mortality, the likelihood of readmission to the hospital, anticipated lengths of hospital stays, or even early signs of deterioration in patient conditions. However, it is essential to note that many AI models still remain in various development stages, with a significant number of them as yet untested or unimplemented in real-world clinical practice settings, highlighting the necessity for ongoing research and validation in this rapidly advancing field [369, 370, 371, 372, 373, 374, 375, 376].

The earliest medical AI applications were meticulously designed to provide sophisticated computer-based diagnostic tools specifically tailored internal medicine. while simultaneously offering therapeutic recommendations for a wide variety of medical conditions. A quintessential model that exemplifies this significant innovation in the field is the MYCIN system, which is well-known for its remarkable capacity to assist in medical diagnosis as well as provide comprehensive treatment advice based on the detailed patient data it processes. Screening algorithms that have been developed for diabetic retinopathy illustrate some of the most advanced and established AI applications currently present in the medical field; indeed, several of these algorithms have undergone extensive validation with large patient cohorts and have received considerable recognition for their consistent reliability and accuracy. Additionally, the same algorithms that are employed in screenings serve as foundational elements for cutting-edge assistive technologies that are aimed at the thorough evaluation and effective treatment of various retinal diseases. In the context of lung cancer diagnosis, AI employs sophisticated algorithms that integrate a diverse range of imaging features together with relevant biomarkers to significantly enhance the accuracy of classification outcomes. The ongoing incorporation of AI in medicine encompassing diagnostic support, proactive disease screening, and precision-targeted treatment planning clearly reflects the substantial and notable progress that is being made in the ever-evolving realm of medical informatics. This advancement not only redefines traditional approaches but also lays the groundwork for future developments in patient care and treatment methodologies [377, 378, 379, 380, 381, 382, 383, 384, 385]

13.2 Personalized medicine

Personalized medicine

Biomedical engineering is positioned to play an increasingly significant and transformative role in the evolving landscape of advanced technologies, which hold remarkable potential to greatly enhance the field of personalized medicine in innovative and meaningful ways. Current healthcare practices frequently address the symptoms based on "where the average person is" for large populations of patients, often neglecting to consider the distinct

individual characteristics that uniquely define each patient's health landscape. Across a broad spectrum of diseases, these conventional practices often overlook critical differences rooted in each individual's unique genetic make-up, leading to varied health outcomes, diverse responses to treatment, and inconsistent management strategies. It is essential to further understand that a single symptom can frequently indicate multiple underlying causes, complicating both diagnosis and management in significant and sometimes unpredictable ways. The prevailing healthcare paradigm mainly focuses on alleviating or managing symptoms; this narrow approach can inadvertently result in suboptimal therapeutic effects, erratic quality of care, and a marked inability to effectively address the underlying nature of many complex medical conditions. Additionally, this situation yields substantial healthcare expenses that could potentially be mitigated through more tailored and individualized interventions, specifically designed to cater to each patient's unique circumstances. Most treatment guidelines tend to be structured around addressing the management of a single condition; however, the reality remains that the majority of patients, in fact, experience two or more concurrent disorders known as multimorbidities which considerably complicate their treatment journey. The co-occurrence of these overlapping conditions often necessitates the extensive use of polypharmacy; this term refers to the practice of prescribing multiple drugs in order to manage multiple conditions simultaneously. Paradoxically, as patients develop additional chronic disorders, the level of attention directed toward their overall health often diminishes alarmingly, leading to a disconcerting situation where their comprehensive care may suffer significantly. The resulting interactions and dependencies between various conditions and treatments can severely limit the intended effects of therapies, making it imperative for healthcare providers to consider these intricate interactions thoughtfully and holistically during both diagnosis and treatment planning. Grasping the complex interplay between diseases and their treatments will be essential for enhancing care quality and optimizing outcomes for patients grappling with multifaceted health challenges throughout their lives. This situation has created a pressing need for notable advances in the field of biomedical engineering, paving the way for a more personalized approach to healthcare that prioritizes and respects the unique needs of each individual [386, 132, 133, 4, 134, 6, 387, 17]

Recent advances in genetics, engineering, and computational analyses, however, have amply supported a better understanding of the human body for the development of truly individualized treatments that challenge the

establishment of medicine. The next generation of techniques focuses on the manipulation of disease at the molecular level through methods, such as DNA sequencing, molecular diagnostics, high-throughput screening, and state-of-the-art imaging. Technologies of this kind reveal a large diversity in the way disorders take place, evolve, and can be treated at the individual level. These advances lead to the generation of big data, which requires proper handling, analysis, and interpretation through advanced digital technologies [388, 389, 390, 391, 392].

Research efforts encompass a wide array of initiatives that aim to regenerate tissues and organs, which are crucial for medical advancements. These initiatives also focus on extending the capabilities of materials and adopting innovative techniques that go beyond the established limits of standard diagnostic methods currently in use. Furthermore, there is a strong emphasis on the development of advanced and new strategies for the prevention of various diseases, which is essential in combating health challenges. Collectively, these initiatives signify a significant transition from traditional medical schemes to a more personalized approach to medical treatments that cater to individual patient needs. This transformative shift is achieved through the application of gene and cell therapies, which offer groundbreaking possibilities for treatment, as well as the emerging field of pharmacogenetics that tailors medical care to genetic profiles. In addition to these advancements, there are also cutting-edge methods developed for disease detection and diagnostics, which help in identifying health issues at earlier stages and improving patient outcomes [393, 394, 395, 396].

Case Studies in Biomedical Engineering

Biomedical engineering is an interdisciplinary field that effectively harnesses a diverse array of engineering principles to systematically solve complex and multifaceted problems encountered in both biology and the medical sector, ultimately aimed at improving healthcare quality and greatly enhancing patient wellbeing. The continuous and rapid developments in cutting-edge technology alongside innovative engineering practices are widely anticipated to have a profound, far-reaching, and significant impact on medical practices, surgical procedures, and overall patient care. The seamless integration of engineering with the field of medicine can be achieved a rigorous process that involves in-depth comprehensive understanding of intricate systems, prototyping of advanced solutions, and thorough testing of these models. In this collaborative and synergistic approach, both students who are actively pursuing biomedical engineering degrees and practicing doctors in the field gain a much deeper insight into intricate translational surgical problems. This is accomplished by focusing on simulating physiology and the dynamic interactions of biological systems, rather than merely reviewing static anatomy. This innovative and engaging method allows trainees to develop essential and critical abilities required to accurately assess various clinical conditions. They can then determine the most appropriate interventions based on their thorough and rigorous evaluation of realistic and dynamic models. As a result, they are significantly better prepared to tackle and manage the numerous challenges faced in real-world medical scenarios, ultimately leading to improved patient outcomes and enhanced healthcare practices [8, 397, 135, 4, 3, 13, 17, 20]

14.1 Successful implementations

Clinical applications of biomedical engineering indicate emerging innovations that are resulting in improved patient care and reduced healthcare costs in today's hospitals. These enabled engineers to address practical issues related to the design of integrated or standalone devices with physiological information processing. Clinical immersion experiences can be

effective at exposing biomedical engineering undergraduates to a wider variety of career paths. Such experiences may help increase the number of students who plan to pursue graduate school or enter industry after graduation, possibly thereby supporting the growth of the biomedical engineering workforce. Translational prospects increase when device designers collaborate closely with scientists, regulatory experts, clinicians, surgeons, and potential beneficiaries during the earliest stages of technology development. Those involved in such efforts also should ensure that fundamental engineering advances are translated into systems suitable for a clinical environment [8, 398, 399].

14.2 Lessons learned

Translational clinical biomedical engineering is a dynamic and interdisciplinary discipline that applies engineering science and advanced technology in order to effectively solve a wide range of persistent clinical problems that are often challenging to address. This critical field not only focuses on the development of relevant and innovative technologies but also ensures the successful conversion of essential laboratory research findings into practical clinical practice, bridging the gap between theoretical knowledge and real-world medical applications. By facilitating seamless information exchange and collaboration between hospitals and specialized research centers, these efforts foster significant advancements in medical science, which can have a profound impact on patient care. Such collaborative initiatives have significantly enabled substantial improvements in the diagnosis, therapy, and monitoring of various diseases through several cutting-edge approaches, including but not limited to surgical simulation, sophisticated medical robotics, innovative microfluidics, advanced tissue engineering, e-health solutions, and robust telemedicine platforms that connect patients with healthcare providers. Furthermore, education and training programs in this highly specialized field are carefully designed to respond to the growing demand for collaborative research initiatives, which are aimed at developing groundbreaking medical devices and applications from their very inception all the way through to clinical adoption and comprehensive implementation at the bedside, ensuring improved patient outcomes and enhanced healthcare delivery for a diverse population [400, 401, 402, 403, 404, 405, 406]

Collaboration Between Engineers and Clinicians

The clinical use of biomedical engineering innovation necessitates a close and effective collaboration between engineering professionals and clinical partners. Clinical teams, alongside engineering experts, tend to work most effectively when they not only understand the challenges at hand but also leverage the distinctive expertise and unique perspectives that each partner brings to the table. Engineers, by immersing themselves deeply in the clinical context, quickly gain a comprehensive understanding of various clinical needs and priorities, aligning their innovative skills with real-world applications. Simultaneously, clinicians develop a greater awareness of the engineering capabilities at their disposal, realizing how these tools and methodologies can be harnessed to improve patient care. This intense and focused clinical immersion serves as a vital foundation for both groups, enabling them to collectively tackle significant unmet clinical needs through innovative engineering solutions and approaches, ultimately leading to better healthcare practices. The role of engineers within clinical environments extends well beyond merely passively learning about problems and issues that emerge. Instead, engineers must actively apply scientific principles and engineering methodologies, all while adapting to the dynamic requirements and fast-paced nature of clinical workflows as well as the various challenges they encounter in real-time. Gaining a deep understanding of clinical environments through prolonged periods of immersion aids students and professionals alike in developing essential skills for analyzing complex situations they might face, applying appropriate tools to tackle these multifaceted challenges, and recognizing the influential factors that play a crucial role in effective problem-solving. By working collaboratively and in an integrated manner, engineering and clinical teams can significantly enhance patient outcomes, drive forward innovative practices in the healthcare sector, and contribute to the overall improvement of medical technologies and approaches. Through this partnership, they can identify areas in need of improvement, devise solutions that are both practical and efficient, and ultimately create an environment where cutting-edge healthcare innovations can thrive. The synergy developed through this collaboration is essential for advancing medical technology and improving the quality of care provided to patients across a multitude of healthcare settings $^{[407,\,398,\,408,\,409,\,410,\,411,\,412,\,413]}$.

Conclusion

Biomedical engineering is a multifaceted field that focuses particularly on clinical applications across various domains, specifically targeting advancements in areas such as diagnostic and therapeutic instrumentation, sophisticated medical imaging techniques, the development of artificial organs, innovative prostheses, and the exciting progress in tissue engineering. In recent years, significant advances in the realms of artificial intelligence, personalised medicine, advanced medical imaging, wireless communications technology, cutting-edge robotics. and innovative nanomedicine are beginning to converge and integrate with other critical clinical applications. This integration is making noticeable strides in areas such as drug discovery, the emergence of virtual health assistants, the implementation of symptom checkers, and the advancement of robot-assisted surgical procedures. Furthermore, remote patient monitoring systems and digital pathology solutions are also becoming increasingly central to contemporary healthcare practices, enhancing patient outcomes and delivery. Clinical trial research is also benefiting from these innovations. Technologies like telemedicine and wearable health devices are playing pivotal roles in addressing the prevailing shortage of healthcare professionals in the developed world, thereby improving access to quality care.

References

- 1. R. Quansah Amissah, A. Kwesi Atchurey, L. Appiah, E. Kofi Fiakumah *et al.*, "BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING IN GHANA," 2013. [PDF]
- A. Maccaro, S. M. Pagliara, M. Zarro, D. Piaggio, "Ethics and biomedical engineering for well-being: a cocreation study of remote services for monitoring and support," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 13, no. 1, 2023. nature.com
- 3. C. De Maria, A. Díaz Lantada, T. Jämsä, L. Pecchia, "Biomedical engineering in low-and middle-income settings: analysis of current state, challenges and best practices," Health and Technology, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1-15, 2022. springer.com
- 4. Z. AKHTAR, "Biomedical engineering (bme) and medical health science: an investigation perspective exploration," Quantum Journal of Medical and Health Sciences, 2024. qjmhs.com
- L. A. Dobrzański and A. D. Dobrzańska-Danikiewicz, "Effect of biomedical materials in the implementation of a long and healthy life policy," Processes, vol. 2021. mdpi.com
- 6. G. Shabir, "Advancing patient outcomes: The intersection of biomedical engineering, medical devices, and AI," 2024. researchgate.net
- M. C. Kelvin-Agwu and M. O. Adelodun, "Advancements in biomedical device implants: A comprehensive review of current technologies," Int. J. Front. Med., vol. 2024. researchgate.net
- 8. A. Díaz Lantada, J. Javier Serrano Olmedo, A. Ros Felip, J. Jiménez Fernández *et al.*, "CDIO Experiences in Biomedical Engineering: Preparing Spanish Students for the Future of Medicine and Medical Device Technology," 2016. [PDF]
- 9. P. A. da Ana and C. B. Lombello, "Biomedical Engineering: history and areas of expertise," Current Trends in Biomedical Engineering, 2023. [HTML]
- I. N. Weerarathna, P. Kumar, A. Luharia, and G. Mishra, "Engineering with Biomedical Sciences Changing the Horizon of Healthcare-A Review," Bioengineered, 2024. tandfonline.com
- 11. M. Miculescu and O. A. Ion, "Regulation and Certification of (Bio)

- Medical Engineers: A Case Study on Romania," *Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 2022. mdpi.com
- 12. M. Roy and A. Roy, "The rise of interdisciplinarity in engineering education in the era of industry 4.0: Implications for management practice," IEEE Engineering Management Review, 2021. [HTML]
- 13. A. Taghian, M. Abo-Zahhad, M. S. Sayed, *et al.*, "Virtual and augmented reality in biomedical engineering," *Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 2023, Springer, 2023. springer.com
- 14. N. McCarty and C. A. Voigt, "Department of Genetic Engineering: A Roadmap," 2025. mit.edu
- H. M. Elnady, "The introduction of Combined Clinical Medicine and Scientific Research Degrees in the Postgraduate Medical Education. A perspective.," Journal of Medical Education and Practice, 2025. ekb.eg
- 16. H. Huang, W. Feng, and Y. Chen, "Two-dimensional biomaterials: material science, biological effect and biomedical engineering applications," Chemical Society Reviews, 2021. [HTML]
- 17. Y. Zhu, B. Kong, R. Liu, and Y. Zhao, "Developing biomedical engineering technologies for reproductive medicine," Smart Medicine, 2022. wiley.com
- M. Javaid, A. Haleem, R. P. Singh, and R. Suman, "Sustaining the healthcare systems through the conceptual of biomedical engineering: A study with recent and future potentials," Biomedical Technology, 2023. sciencedirect.com
- D. Roy and P. Baindara, "Advancement and applications of biomedical engineering in human health care," Bioinformatics and Computational Biology, 2023. [HTML]
- 20. M. Ramezani and Z. Mohd Ripin, "4D printing in biomedical engineering: advancements, challenges, and future directions," Journal of functional biomaterials, 2023. mdpi.com
- L. K. Hakim, M. Yazdanian, and M. Alam, "Biocompatible and biomaterials application in drug delivery system in oral cavity," *Evidence-Based*, vol. 2021, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 22. L. K. Hakim, A. Yari, N. Nikparto, and S. H. Mehraban, "The current applications of nano and biomaterials in drug delivery of dental implant," BMC Oral Health, vol. 24, no. 1, 2024. springer.com

- 23. A. M. Abraham and S. Venkatesan, "A review on application of biomaterials for medical and dental implants," *Journal of Materials*, Part L, 2023. [HTML]
- 24. R. Agrawal, S. Singh, and K. K. Saxena, "A role of biomaterials in tissue engineering and drug encapsulation," in *Proceedings of the ...*, 2025. [HTML]
- 25. A. Bharadwaj, "An overview on biomaterials and its applications in medical science," IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, vol. 2021, 2021. iop.org
- 26. R. Eftekhar Ashtiani and M. Alam, "The role of biomaterials and biocompatible materials in implant-supported dental prosthesis," *Evidence-Based Dentistry*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 123-130, 2021. wiley.com
- 27. S. Hussain, I. Mubeen, N. Ullah, "Modern diagnostic imaging technique applications and risk factors in the medical field: a review," BioMed Research, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 28. D. Zhihui and A. N. Nasution, "The Role of Imaging in Modern Medical Science: Techniques, Applications, and Future Directions.," Frontiers in Health Informatics, 2024. [HTML]
- 29. X. Li, L. Zhang, J. Yang, and F. Teng, "Role of artificial intelligence in medical image analysis: A review of current trends and future directions," *Journal of Medical and Biological Engineering*, 2024. [HTML]
- 30. A. S. Chauhan, R. Singh, N. Priyadarshi, and B. Twala, "Unleashing the power of advanced technologies for revolutionary medical imaging: pioneering the healthcare frontier with artificial intelligence," Discover Artificial Intelligence, vol. 2024, Springer, 2024. springer.com
- 31. N. Rasool and J. I. Bhat, "Unveiling the complexity of medical imaging through deep learning approaches," Chaos Theory and Applications, 2023. dergipark.org.tr
- 32. B. Abhisheka, S. K. Biswas, B. Purkayastha, D. Das, "Recent trend in medical imaging modalities and their applications in disease diagnosis: a review," *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, vol. 2024, Springer. [HTML]
- 33. L. Pinto-Coelho, "How artificial intelligence is shaping medical imaging technology: a survey of innovations and applications," Bioengineering, 2023. mdpi.com

- 34. S. Bhat and A. Kumar, "Biomaterials and bioengineering tomorrow's healthcare," 2013. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 35. P. Dec, A. Modrzejewski, and A. Pawlik, "Existing and novel biomaterials for bone tissue engineering," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2022. mdpi.com
- 36. E. Mazzoni, M. R. Iaquinta, C. Lanzillotti, "Bioactive materials for soft tissue repair," in *Bioengineering and...*, 2021. frontiersin.org
- 37. S. Todros, M. Todesco, and A. Bagno, "Biomaterials and their biomedical applications: from replacement to regeneration," Processes, 2021. mdpi.com
- 38. B. Kheilnezhad and A. Hadjizadeh, "A review: progress in preventing tissue adhesions from a biomaterial perspective," Biomaterials Science, 2021. [HTML]
- 39. G. Szczęsny, M. Kopec, D. J. Politis, Z. L. Kowalewski, "A review on biomaterials for orthopaedic surgery and traumatology: from past to present," Materials, vol. 2022. mdpi.com
- 40. M. Saraswathy, V. Krishnaswami, and D. D. Ragini, "Biomaterials for Hard Tissue Engineering: Concepts, Methods, and Applications," in *Biomaterials in Tissue Engineering*, 2021, Springer. [HTML]
- 41. A. Grzelak, A. Hnydka, J. Higuchi, A. Michalak, "Recent achievements in the development of biomaterials improved with platelet concentrates for soft and hard tissue engineering applications," *International Journal of ...*, 2024. mdpi.com
- 42. M. C. Bonferoni, C. Caramella, L. Catenacci, B. Conti, "Biomaterials for soft tissue repair and regeneration: a focus on Italian research in the field," Pharmaceutics, vol. 13, no. 5, 2021. mdpi.com
- 43. G. A. Truskey, "The Potential of Deep Learning to Advance Clinical Applications of Computational Biomechanics," 2023. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 44. L. Wade, L. Needham, P. McGuigan, and J. Bilzon, "Applications and limitations of current markerless motion capture methods for clinical gait biomechanics," PeerJ, 2022. peerj.com
- 45. D. Lloyd, "The future of in-field sports biomechanics: wearables plus modelling compute real-time in vivo tissue loading to prevent and repair musculoskeletal injuries," Sports Biomechanics, 2024. [HTML]
- 46. S. H. L. Smith, R. J. Coppack, A. J. van den Bogert, et al., "Review of

- musculoskeletal modelling in a clinical setting: Current use in rehabilitation design, surgical decision making and healthcare interventions," *Biomechanics*, vol. 2021, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 47. N. Attik, R. Richert, and S. Garoushi, "Biomechanics, Bioactive and Biomimetic philosophy in restorative dentistry—Quo vadis?," Journal of Dentistry, 2024. [HTML]
- 48. I. Roupa, M. R. da Silva, F. Marques, "On the modeling of biomechanical systems for human movement analysis: a narrative review," *Computational Methods*, vol. 2022, Springer. inesc-id.pt
- 49. Y. Niu, T. Du, and Y. Liu, "Biomechanical characteristics and analysis approaches of bone and bone substitute materials," Journal of functional biomaterials, 2023. mdpi.com
- 50. P. G. Dake, J. Mukherjee, K. C. Sahu, and A. B. Pandit, "Computational fluid dynamics in cardiovascular engineering: a comprehensive review," in *Academy of Engineering*, 2024, Springer. researchgate.net
- Z. Chen, L. T. Zhu, and Z. H. Luo, "Characterizing flow and transport in biological vascular systems: A review from physiological and chemical engineering perspectives," *Chemical Engineering Research*, vol. 2023, ACS Publications. [HTML]
- P. J. Blanco and L. O. Müller, "One-Dimensional Blood Flow Modeling in the Cardiovascular System. From the Conventional Physiological Setting to Real-Life Hemodynamics," in *Methods in Biomedical Engineering*, 2025. [HTML]
- 53. R. Barua, "Hemodynamics Engineering: Blood Flow Measurement, Simulation, and Modeling," 2025. [HTML]
- 54. M. Kadem, L. Garber, M. Abdelkhalek, and others, "Hemodynamic modeling, medical imaging, and machine learning and their applications to cardiovascular interventions," *IEEE Engineering*, vol. 2022. [HTML]
- 55. S. Akbar and S. R. Shah, "Mathematical modeling of blood flow dynamics in the cardiovascular system: Assumptions, considerations, and simulation results," *Journal of Current Medical Research and ...*, 2024. researchgate.net
- 56. S. Ali, I. M. R. Najjar, A. M. Sadoun, and A. Fathy, "Navigating cardiovascular dynamics through mathematical modeling of arterial blood flow," Ain Shams Engineering Journal, 2024. sciencedirect.com

- H. Moradi, A. Al-Hourani, G. Concilia, F. Khoshmanesh, "Recent developments in modeling, imaging, and monitoring of cardiovascular diseases using machine learning," *Biophysical Journal*, vol. 2023, Springer. nih.gov
- 58. F. Bruno, V. Granata, F. Cobianchi Bellisari, and F. Sgalambro, "Advanced magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) techniques: Technical principles and applications in nanomedicine," Cancers, vol. 2022. mdpi.com
- J. Huang, Y. Wu, F. Wang, Y. Fang, Y. Nan, "Data-and physics-driven deep learning based reconstruction for fast MRI: Fundamentals and methodologies," IEEE Reviews in Biomedical Engineering, 2024.
 [PDF]
- 60. M. Mehta and A. Bhandari, "Advancement in biomedical applications of ferrofluids," *Journal of the Brazilian Society of Mechanical Sciences and Engineering*, vol. 2025, Springer, 2025. [HTML]
- 61. C. C. A. Ding, S. Dokos, A. A. Bakir, N. J. Zamberi, "Simulating impaired left ventricular-arterial coupling in aging and disease: a systematic review," BioMedical Engineering, vol. 2024, Springer. springer.com
- 62. W. Bian and Y. K. Tamilselvam, "A review of optimization-based deep learning models for mri reconstruction," AppliedMath, 2024. mdpi.com
- 63. A. Szpicer, W. Bińkowska, A. Stelmasiak, "Advances in Computational Fluid Dynamics of Mechanical Processes in Food Engineering: Mixing, Extrusion, Drying, and Process Optimization," Applied Sciences, 2025. mdpi.com
- 64. H. M. Balaha, S. M. Ayyad, A. Alksas, M. Shehata, "Precise prostate cancer assessment using IVIM-based parametric estimation of blood diffusion from DW-MRI," Bioengineering, 2024. mdpi.com
- 65. L. Lindner, E. Kovacheva, R. Moss, and E. M. Wülfers, "Electromechanical whole-heart digital twins: a fully coupled multi-physics approach," Mathematics, vol. 2021. mdpi.com
- 66. K. Reddy, P. Gharde, H. Tayade, M. Patil, and L. S. Reddy, "Advancements in robotic surgery: a comprehensive overview of current utilizations and upcoming frontiers," Cureus, 2023. cureus.com
- 67. M. Iftikhar, M. Saqib, M. Zareen, "Artificial intelligence: revolutionizing robotic surgery," *Journal of Medicine and Surgery*, 2024. lww.com

- 68. A. Qureshi, "Robotic Surgery: Enhancing Precision in Complex Procedures," Review Journal of Neurological & Medical Sciences, 2024. rjnmsreview.com
- 69. B. Johansson and E. Eriksson, "Robotic surgery: review on minimally invasive techniques," in *Fusion of ...*, 2021. fusionproceedings.com
- P. Łajczak, K. Żerdziński, K. Jóźwik, M. Laskowski, "Enhancing precision and safety in spinal surgery: A comprehensive review of robotic assistance technologies," World Neurosurgery, 2024. sciencedirect.com
- 71. E. R. Iacob, R. Iacob, L. A. Ghenciu, T. A. Popoiu, "Small scale, high precision: robotic surgery in neonatal and pediatric patients a narrative review," Children, vol. 2024. mdpi.com
- 72. Z. Qadrie, M. Maqbool, M. A. Dar, and A. Qadir, "Navigating challenges and maximizing potential: Handling complications and constraints in minimally invasive surgery," Open Health, 2025. degruyterbrill.com
- 73. A. E. Eldeeb, S. Salah, and N. A. Elkasabgy, "Biomaterials for tissue engineering applications and current updates in the field: a comprehensive review," Aaps Pharmscitech, 2022. springer.com
- 74. A. Vijayalekha and S. K. Anandasadagopan, "An overview of collagenbased composite scaffold for bone tissue engineering," *Applied Biochemistry*, vol. 2023, Springer. researchgate.net
- 75. A. K. Tamo, "Nanocellulose-based hydrogels as versatile materials with interesting functional properties for tissue engineering applications," Journal of Materials Chemistry B, 2024. rsc.org
- 76. Y. Xu, Y. Yu, and Z. Guo, "Hydrogels in cardiac tissue engineering: application and challenges," Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry, 2025. [HTML]
- S. Gundu, N. Varshney, A. K. Sahi, and S. K. Mahto, "Recent developments of biomaterial scaffolds and regenerative approaches for craniomaxillofacial bone tissue engineering," Journal of Polymer Research, 2022. [HTML]
- N. B. Charbe and M. Tambuwala, "Biomedical applications of threedimensional bioprinted craniofacial tissue engineering," Bioengineering, vol. 2023, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 79. N. Sultana, A. Cole, and F. Strachan, "Biocomposite scaffolds for tissue

- engineering: materials, fabrication techniques and future directions," Materials, 2024. mdpi.com
- 80. H. Omidian and K. Mfoafo, "Three-dimensional printing strategies for enhanced hydrogel applications," Gels, 2024. mdpi.com
- 81. JI Sasaki, GL Abe, A Li, T Matsumoto, "Large three-dimensional cell constructs for tissue engineering," *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Technology*, vol. 2021, Taylor & Francis. tandfonline.com
- 82. R. Cai, N. Gimenez-Camino, M. Xiao, S. Bi, "Technological advances in three-dimensional skin tissue engineering," Reviews on Advanced Materials, vol. 2023. degruyterbrill.com
- 83. F. Carotenuto, S. Politi, A. Ul Haq, F. De Matteis, "From soft to hard biomimetic materials: Tuning micro/nano-architecture of scaffolds for tissue regeneration," Micromachines, vol. 2022. mdpi.com
- 84. Y. Jiao, M. Lei, R. Chang, and X. Qu, "State-of-the-art, challenges, and prospects in mesoscopic structural assembly and engineering technologies within biomaterials," Science China Materials, 2024. [HTML]
- 85. R. S. Veeravalli, B. Vejandla, S. Savani, A. Nelluri, "Three-dimensional bioprinting in medicine: a comprehensive overview of current progress and challenges faced," Cureus, 2023. cureus.com
- A. Zaszczyńska, M. Moczulska-Heljak, A. Gradys, et al., "Advances in 3D printing for tissue engineering," Materials, vol. 14, no. 4, 2021. mdpi.com
- 87. V. Overchuk, J. Kushnir, O. Shportun, L. Matokhniuk, "Improving the quality of life of persons with disabilities by promoting their professional rehabilitation," 2021. donnu.edu.ua
- 88. S. Satpute, R. Cooper, B. E. Dicianno, J. Joseph, Y. Chi, "Mini-review: Rehabilitation engineering: Research priorities and trends," *Neuroscience*, vol. 2021, Elsevier. google.com
- 89. C. P. DiGiovine, M. Donahue, P. Bahr, M. Bresler, *et al.*, "Rehabilitation engineers, technologists, and technicians: Vital members of the assistive technology team," Assistive Technology, vol. 2023, Taylor & Francis. inaoep.mx
- 90. A. D. Banyai and C. Brişan, "Robotics in physical rehabilitation: Systematic Review," Healthcare, 2024. mdpi.com

- 91. S. Sahoo and B. Choudhury, "Voice-activated wheelchair: An affordable solution for individuals with physical disabilities," Management Science Letters, 2023. core.ac.uk
- A. Kerr, M. A. Grealy, A. Kuschmann, et al., "A co-creation centre for accessible rehabilitation technology," in *Rehabilitation*, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 93. C. D. Rocha, I. Carneiro, M. Torres, "Post-stroke upper limb rehabilitation: clinical practices, compensatory movements, assessment, and trends," in *Engineering*, 2025. iop.org
- 94. T. K. Chiew, S. Khoo, P. Ansari, and others, "Mobile and wearable technologies for persons with disabilities: A bibliometric analysis (2000–2021)," in *Rehabilitation*, 2024, Taylor & Francis. bournemouth.ac.uk
- 95. D. J. Reinkensmeyer, S. Blackstone, C. Bodine, J. Brabyn *et al.*, "How a Diverse Research Ecosystem Has Generated New Rehabilitation Technologies: Review of NIDILRR's Rehabilitation Engineering Research Centers," 2017. [PDF]
- 96. S. C. Leong, Y. M. Tang, F. M. Toh, and K. N. K. Fong, "The effectiveness of virtual, augmented, and mixed reality (VAMR) therapy for upper limb recovery and activities of daily living in stroke patients: a systematic review," in *... and Rehabilitation*, 2022. springer.com
- 97. Y. Ham, D. S. Yang, Y. Choi, and J. H. Shin, "Effectiveness of mixed reality-based rehabilitation on hands and fingers by individual finger-movement tracking in patients with stroke," NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation, vol. 21, no. 1, 2024. springer.com
- 98. Y. Ham, D. S. Yang, Y. Choi, and J. H. Shin, "The feasibility of mixed reality-based upper extremity self-training for patients with stroke A pilot study," Frontiers in Neurology, 2022. frontiers in org
- 99. V. Patil, J. Narayan, K. Sandhu, and S. K. Dwivedy, "Integration of virtual reality and augmented reality in physical rehabilitation: a state-of-the-art review," in *Revolutions in Product Design*, 2022, Springer. [HTML]
- 100.O. Salsabila, "... IN STROKE REHABILITATION: A SYSTEMATIC LITERATURE REVIEW ON INNOVATIONS, EFFECTIVENESS, AND IMPLEMENTATION IN PATIENT RECOVERY," Jurnal Kesehatan Saintika Meditory, 2025. syedzasaintika.ac.id

- 101.O. Postolache, J. Monge, R. Alexandre, and O. Geman, "Virtual reality and augmented reality technologies for smart physical rehabilitation," in *Advanced Systems for ...*, Springer, 2021. researchgate.net
- 102.J. Solanki and K. Popat, "Advancements and Innovations in Mixed Reality: A Comprehensive Review," in *International Conference on Advancements in Smart ...*, 2024, Springer. [HTML]
- 103.F. D'Urso, P. Piscitelli, A. Miani, and F. Broccolo, "Revolutionizing medical education: the impact of virtual and mixed reality on training and skill acquisition," 2024. preprints.org
- 104.M. U. Tariq, "Advanced wearable medical devices and their role in transformative remote health monitoring," in *... approaches to patient literacy and healthcare*, 2024. researchgate.net
- 105.A. B. Singh and C. Khandelwal, "Revolutionizing healthcare materials: Innovations in processing, advancements, and challenges for enhanced medical device integration and performance," Journal of ..., 2024. [HTML]
- 106.L. Altintas and M. Sahiner, "Transforming medical education: the impact of innovations in technology and medical devices," Expert review of medical devices, 2024. [HTML]
- 107.A. Akkaoui, Y. Zahidi, M. El Moufid, W. Dachry, "Developing medical devices with emerging technologies: trends, challenges, and future directions," F1000Research, 2024. f1000research.com
- 108.S. M. Yang, S. Lv, W. Zhang, and Y. Cui, "Microfluidic point-of-care (POC) devices in early diagnosis: A review of opportunities and challenges," Sensors, 2022. mdpi.com
- 109.Y. Srivastava, S. Virk, S. Hazra, and S. Ganguli, "An overview of the various medical devices for diagnosis, monitoring, and treatment of diseases," in *Devices, Circuits, and Systems*, Elsevier, 2021. [HTML]
- 110.Q. Liu, X. Jin, J. Cheng, H. Zhou, "Advances in the application of molecular diagnostic techniques for the detection of infectious disease pathogens," *Molecular Medicine*, 2023. spandidos-publications.com
- 111.P. Li, G. H. Lee, S. Y. Kim, S. Y. Kwon *et al.*, "From diagnosis to treatment: recent advances in patient-friendly biosensors and implantable devices," ACS nano, 2021. [HTML]
- 112.F. Haghayegh, A. Norouziazad, E. Haghani, and others, "Revolutionary point-of-care wearable diagnostics for early disease detection and

- biomarker discovery through intelligent technologies," *Advanced ...*, 2024. wiley.com
- 113.I. Buja, E. Sabella, A. G. Monteduro, M. S. Chiriacò, "Advances in plant disease detection and monitoring: From traditional assays to infield diagnostics," Sensors, vol. 21, no. 12, 2021. mdpi.com
- 114.Q. Han, J. Pang, Y. Li, B. Sun, B. Ibarlucea, and X. Liu, "Graphene biodevices for early disease diagnosis based on biomarker detection," *ACS Publications*, 2021. [HTML]
- 115.D. F. Silva, A. L. P. Melo, A. F. C. Uchôa, G. M. A. Pereira *et al.*, "Biomedical Approach of Nanotechnology and Biological Risks: A Mini-Review," 2023. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 116.S. Condino, R. Piazza, M. Carbone, J. Bath *et al.*, "Bioengineering, augmented reality, and robotic surgery in vascular surgery: A literature review," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 117.A. S. Osifowokan and T. K. Adukpo, "The importance of quality assurance in clinical trials: Ensuring data integrity and regulatory compliance in the US pharmaceutical industry," 2024. researchgate.net
- 118.AJ Ehidiamen and OO Oladapo, "The role of electronic data capture systems in clinical trials: Streamlining data integrity and improving compliance with FDA and ICH/GCP guidelines," World Journal of Biology Pharmacy, 2024. researchgate.net
- 119.V. Kandi and S. Vadakedath, "Clinical trials and clinical research: a comprehensive review," Cureus, 2023. cureus.com
- 120.E. Anklam, M. I. Bahl, R. Ball, R. D. Beger, "Emerging technologies and their impact on regulatory science," *Experimental*, vol. 2022. nih.gov
- 121.H. Chopra, D. K. Shin, K. Munjal, K. Dhama, "Revolutionizing clinical trials: the role of AI in accelerating medical breakthroughs," *Journal of Surgery*, vol. 2023. lww.com
- 122.A. Husnain, S. Rasool, A. Saeed, and H. K. Hussain, "Revolutionizing pharmaceutical research: Harnessing machine learning for a paradigm shift in drug discovery," *International Journal of ...*, 2023. [HTML]
- 123.B. Wang, "Optics And Computer Vision For Biomedical Applications," 2018. [PDF]
- 124.K. Guk, G. Han, J. Lim, K. Jeong et al., "Evolution of Wearable

- Devices with Real-Time Disease Monitoring for Personalized Healthcare," 2019. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 125.Y. HYH Yuliastuti, "Medical Device Innovations in Modern Diagnosis and Therapy," Journal of Regenerative Medicine and ..., 2025. aimrc.com
- 126.M. Kumar and V. Chopra, "Biomedical Devices for Remote Diagnosis and Monitoring Based on IOT," in Role of Science and Technology for Sustainable ..., Springer, 2025. [HTML]
- 127.M. V. U. Ramirez, "Advancements in Connected Medical Devices: Assessing Innovations in Remote Monitoring and Diagnosis," Public Health, 2024. primerascientific.com
- 128.D. Fürstenau, M. Gersch, and S. Schreiter, "Digital therapeutics (DTx)," Business & Information Systems, vol. 2023, Springer, 2023. springer.com
- 129.N. Kasoju, N. S. Remya, R. Sasi, S. Sujesh, B. Soman, "Digital health: trends, opportunities and challenges in medical devices, pharma and biotechnology," CSI Transactions on Information Systems, vol. 2023, Springer. springer.com
- 130.L. Wang, K. Jiang, and G. Shen, "Wearable, implantable, and interventional medical devices based on smart electronic skins," Advanced Materials Technologies, 2021. google.com
- 131.R. P. Magisetty and S. M. Park, "New Era of Electroceuticals: Clinically Driven Smart Implantable Electronic Devices Moving towards Precision Therapy," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 132.Z. Akhtar, "Exploring biomedical engineering (BME): Advances within accelerated computing and regenerative medicine for a computational and medical science ...," J. Emerg. Med. OA, 2024. academia.edu
- 133.T. K. Vashishth, V. Sharma, and K. K. Sharma, "Future trends and emerging technologies in biomedical engineering," *Biomedical Engineering*, 2025. [HTML]
- 134.Z. B. Akhtar, "Accelerated computing a biomedical engineering and medical science perspective," Annals of the Academy of Romanian Scientists Series, vol. 2023. aos.ro
- 135.MC Kelvin-Agwu and MO Adelodun, "The role of biomedical engineers in enhancing patient care through efficient equipment management," Journal Of Frontiers in..., 2024. researchgate.net

- 136.Y. Bai, B. Gu, and C. Tang, "Enhancing real-time patient monitoring in intensive care units with deep learning and the internet of things," Big Data, 2025. [HTML]
- 137.S. Abdulmalek, A. Nasir, W. A. Jabbar, and M. A. M. Almuhaya, "IoT-based healthcare-monitoring system towards improving quality of life: A review," Healthcare, vol. 10, no. 5, 2022. mdpi.com
- 138.HAB Smith, JB Besunder, KA Betters, *et al.*, "Society of Critical Care Medicine clinical practice guidelines on prevention and management of pain, agitation, neuromuscular blockade, and delirium in critically ill," Pediatric Critical Care, vol. XX, no. XX, pp. XX-XX, 2022. stonybrookmedicine.edu
- 139.M. Ullah, S. Hamayun, A. Wahab, and S. U. Khan, "Smart technologies used as smart tools in the management of cardiovascular disease and their future perspective," Current Problems in..., vol. 2023, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 140.M. A. Khan, "Challenges facing the application of IoT in medicine and healthcare," *International Journal of Computations, Information ...*, vol. 2021, pp. 1-10, 2021. gaftim.com
- 141.N. Rane, S. Choudhary, and J. Rane, "Artificial intelligence for enhancing resilience," *Journal of Applied Artificial Intelligence*, 2024. sabapub.com
- 142.S. Yelne, M. Chaudhary, K. Dod, A. Sayyad *et al.*, "Harnessing the power of AI: a comprehensive review of its impact and challenges in nursing science and healthcare," Cureus, 2023. cureus.com
- 143.J. J. Darrow, J. Avorn, and A. S. Kesselheim, "FDA regulation and approval of medical devices: 1976-2020," Jama, 2021. [HTML]
- 144.UJ Muehlematter and P Daniore, "Approval of artificial intelligence and machine learning-based medical devices in the USA and Europe (2015–20): a comparative analysis," The Lancet Digital Health, 2021. thelancet.com
- 145.V. R. Sastri, "Plastics in medical devices: properties, requirements, and applications," 2021. [HTML]
- 146.A. Badnjević, L. G. Pokvić, A. Deumić, "Post-market surveillance of medical devices: A review," *Health Informatics Journal*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 1-15, 2022. iospress.com
- 147.A. Badnjević, H. Avdihodžić, and L. Gurbeta Pokvić, "Artificial

- intelligence in medical devices: Past, present and future," Psychiatria Danubina, 2021. srce.hr
- 148.S. Gilbert, M. Fenech, M. Hirsch, S. Upadhyay, "Algorithm change protocols in the regulation of adaptive machine learning—based medical devices," *Journal of Medical*, vol. 2021. jmir.org
- 149.W. Linck, M. A. C. Tinoco, S. V. Bonato, "A maturity assessment methodology for ISO 13485 implementation in the medical devices industry," *International Journal of ...*, 2025. [HTML]
- 150.G. Antola, "Procedure improvement for designing and developing medical devices in compliance with MDR and ISO 13485: case study on osteotomy plates series.," 2024. polito.it
- 151.A. M. Perras, "Developing a Robust QMS for a Medical Device Using ISO 13485: 2016," 2023. [HTML]
- 152.T. Kortelainen and M. Milovanov, "The role of ISO 9001 and ISO 13485 Quality Management System as drivers behind health technology supply chain performance and evolution," 2025. uef.fi
- 153.V. Hasirci and N. Hasirci, "Design and manufacturing requirements for medical devices," Fundamentals of biomaterials, 2024. [HTML]
- 154.D. Dharavath and R. Maddi, "ISO standards of medical devices," World Journal of Current Medical and ..., 2022. wjcmpr.org
- 155.J. Van Batavia and S. Goldenberg, "FDA Device Regulation: 510(k), PMA," 2019. [PDF]
- 156.C. M. Loftus, M. Hoffmann, W. Heetderks, X. Zheng *et al.*, "Regulation of Neurological Devices and Neurointerventional Endovascular Approaches for Acute Ischemic Stroke," 2018. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 157.A. M. Alyami, M. T. Kirimi, S. L. Neale, and J. R. Mercer, "Implantable Biosensors for Vascular Diseases: Directions for the Next Generation of Active Diagnostic and Therapeutic Medical Device Technologies," Biosensors, 2025. mdpi.com
- 158.A. P. Mauro, A. M. Davis, E. H. Lee, and P. W. Hickey, "Travel Health Needs of Children in US Military Families Stationed Abroad," Military Medicine, 2025. oup.com
- 159.R. Burchardt, ""PUBLIC SECRET" REVEALED: INTERNATIONAL PATIENT CARE CENTERS IN GERMANY AND THE UNITED STATES," 2024. tdl.org

- 160.S. G. B. L. Clack and L. M. G. L. K. Gosa, "HEALTHCARE COMPLIANCE," ung.edu, . ung.edu
- 161.R. C. Ausness, "Corporate Misconduct in the Pharmaceutical Industry," DePaul L. Rev., 2021. depaul.edu
- 162.E. Bouteiller and A. Chicoye, "Fundamentals of Market Access for Pharmaceuticals," 2024. [HTML]
- 163.M. Nezafati, "Biomaterial Testing Methodology for Long-Term in vivo Applications: Silicon Carbide Corrosion Resistance, Biocompatibility and Hemocompatibility," 2014. [PDF]
- 164.J. Harer and J. Schröttner, "Quality management requirements in compliance with European Regulations," in *Devices and In Vitro Diagnostics: Requirements in ...*, 2023, Springer. [HTML]
- 165.A. C. Ioana and A. E. Dumitrascu, "Implementation of Integrated Management Systems: ISO 9001, ISO 45001 and ISO 13485," in *International Conference Innovation in ...*, 2025, Springer. [HTML]
- 166.D. A. J. Pacheco, S. V. Bonato, and W. Linck, "Advancing quality management in the medical devices industry: strategies for effective ISO 13485 implementation," *Quality in Health Care*, 2025. [HTML]
- 167.D. Dhandia, S. Jain, V. K. Shukla, and N. Sharma, "ISO-13485 and Schedule M-III–Quality Management System," in *Understanding...*, Taylor & Francis. [HTML]
- 168.Š Tichý, "Optimization of Quality Management System in a Company Producing Medical Devices," 2023. utb.cz
- 169.A. Y. S. H. A. KARIM KIANI, Z. A. K. I. R. A. NAUREEN, D. E. R. E. K. PHEBY, G. A. R. Y. HENEHAN *et al.*, "Methodology for clinical research," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 170.S. Piantadosi, "Clinical trials: a methodologic perspective," 2024. [HTML]
- 171.W. Medical Association, "World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human participants," Jama, 2025. jamanetwork.com
- 172.A. Werntz, S. Amado, M. Jasman, A. Ervin, "Providing human support for the use of digital mental health interventions: systematic metareview," Internet Research, vol. 2023. jmir.org
- 173.A. W. Dromerick, S. Geed, J. Barth, K. Brady, et al., "Critical Period

- After Stroke Study (CPASS): A phase II clinical trial testing an optimal time for motor recovery after stroke in humans," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 118, no. XX, 2021. pnas.org
- 174.J. J. H. Park, R. Mogg, G. E. Smith, *et al.*, "How COVID-19 has fundamentally changed clinical research in global health," The Lancet Global Health, 2021. thelancet.com
- 175.I. Bighelli, A. Rodolico, H. García-Mieres, *et al.*, "Psychosocial and psychological interventions for relapse prevention in schizophrenia: a systematic review and network meta-analysis," *The Lancet*, 2021. thelancet.com
- 176.A. Chakrabarti, L. Geurts, L. Hoyles, P. Iozzo, *et al.*, "The microbiotagut–brain axis: pathways to better brain health. Perspectives on what we know, what we need to investigate and how to put knowledge into practice," Cellular and Molecular, vol. 2022, Springer. springer.com
- 177.O. Verrastro, S. Panunzi, L. Castagneto-Gissey, *et al.*, "Bariatric—metabolic surgery versus lifestyle intervention plus best medical care in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (BRAVES): a multicentre, open-label, randomised trial," The Lancet, 2023. thelancet.com
- 178.S. Piantadosi, "Clinical trials: a methodologic perspective," 2024. [HTML]
- 179.J. Rezaie, M. Feghhi, and T. Etemadi, "A review on exosomes application in clinical trials: perspective, questions, and challenges," Cell Communication and Signaling, 2022. springer.com
- 180.EH Weissler, T. Naumann, T. Andersson, R. Ranganath, "The role of machine learning in clinical research: transforming the future of evidence generation," Trials, vol. 22, no. 1, 2021. springer.com
- 181.D. M. Hoang, P. T. Pham, T. Q. Bach, A. T. L. Ngo, *et al.*, "Stem cell-based therapy for human diseases," Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1-15, 2022. nature.com
- 182.E. Goh, R. Gallo, J. Hom, E. Strong, Y. Weng, "Large language model influence on diagnostic reasoning: a randomized clinical trial," JAMA Network, 2024. jamanetwork.com
- 183.X. Y. Tang, S. Wu, D. Wang, C. Chu, Y. Hong, *et al.*, "Human organoids in basic research and clinical applications," Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy, vol. 7, no. 1, 2022. nature.com
- 184.V. Subbiah, "The next generation of evidence-based medicine," Nature medicine, 2023. nature.com

- 185.S. Piantadosi, "Clinical trials: a methodologic perspective," 2024. [HTML]
- 186.S. Khanna, M. Assi, C. Lee, D. Yoho, T. Louie, W. Knapple, *et al.*, "Efficacy and safety of RBX2660 in PUNCH CD3, a phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial with a Bayesian primary analysis for the prevention of ...," Drugs, vol. 2022, Springer. springer.com
- 187.J. S. Dungan, S. Klugman, S. Darilek, and J. Malinowski, "Screening (NIPS) for fetal chromosome abnormalities in a general-risk population: an evidence-based clinical guideline of the American College of Medical," *Journal of Medicine*, vol. 2023, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 188.C. Ahdida, D. Bozzato, D. Calzolari, F. Cerutti, *et al.*, "New capabilities of the FLUKA multi-purpose code," *Frontiers in Physics*, vol. 10, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 189.D. Chirnomas, K. R. Hornberger, and C. M. Crews, "Protein degraders enter the clinic a new approach to cancer therapy," *Nature Reviews Clinical*, 2023. nih.gov
- 190.H. R. Lawrence, R. A. Schneider, S. B. Rubin, *et al.*, "The opportunities and risks of large language models in mental health," *JMIR Mental Health*, 2024. jmir.org
- 191.K. Saab, T. Tu, W. H. Weng, R. Tanno, D. Stutz, "Capabilities of gemini models in medicine," arXiv preprint arXiv:XXXX.XXXX, 2024. [PDF]
- 192.K. Manickam, M. R. McClain, L. A. Demmer, S. Biswas, *et al.*, "Pediatric patients with congenital anomalies or intellectual disability: an evidence-based clinical guideline of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 1-10, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- 193.J. D. Steeves, J. Zariffa, and J. L.K. Kramer, "Are You Tilting at Windmills or Undertaking a Valid Clinical Trial?," 2011. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 194.E. Ogbaudu, T. C. Ohaya, J. F. Smith, and M. A. Elahi, "Phases of clinical trials," Translational Orthopedics, 2024. [HTML]
- 195.A. Ozair, V. Bhat, A. Faruqi, and A. Nanda, "Phases of clinical trials," Translational Surgery, 2023. [HTML]
- 196.S. Piantadosi, "Clinical trials: a methodologic perspective," 2024. [HTML]

- 197.E. Fountzilas, A. M. Tsimberidou, H. H. Vo, and R. Kurzrock, "Clinical trial design in the era of precision medicine," Genome medicine, 2022. springer.com
- 198.J. Shearer, J. L. Castro, A. D. G. Lawson, *et al.*, "Rings in clinical trials and drugs: present and future," *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, vol. 2022, pp. xxx-xxx, ACS Publications. acs.org
- 199.C. M. Zipser, J. J. Cragg, J. D. Guest, M. G. Fehlings, *et al.*, "Cell-based and stem-cell-based treatments for spinal cord injury: evidence from clinical trials," *The Lancet*, vol. 2022. sciencedirect.com
- 200.M. Reichman, V. A. Grunberg, J. D. Doorley, "Being Flexible While Maintaining Fidelity for Medical Patients," in *... Within Fidelity ...*, 2021. [HTML]
- 201.M. D. Klatt, R. Bawa, O. Gabram, *et al.*, "The necessary thread of mindfulness intervention fidelity assurance: enabling an organizational strategy to promote health care professional well-being," *Global Advances in Health and Medicine*, vol. 10, pp. 1-10, 2021. sagepub.com
- 202.S. B. Kiser, J. D. Sterns, P. Y. Lai, N. K. Horick, *et al.*, "Physician coaching by professionally trained peers for burnout and well-being: a randomized clinical trial," JAMA Network, 2024. jamanetwork.com
- 203.L. Alexandra, "Cultural Sensitivity and Fidelity in Interpretation: Navigating Complex Moral Dilemmas," Gender and Language, 2025. academia.edu
- 204.R.A. Price, "CHAPTER FIVE PLURALISM AND CLINICAL CHAPLAINCY," in *Fostering Well-being as a UN ...*, 2025. [HTML]
- 205.L. [Last Name], "CHAPTER SIXTEEN FOSTERING WELL-BEING IN PALLIATIVE SEDATION: AN ETHICAL JUSTIFICATION WITH COMPASSIONATE BOUNDARIES," in FWBIN PALLIATIVE Fostering Well-being as a UN Sustainable..., 2025. [HTML]
- 206. V. Moizé, Y. Graham, X. R. Salas, "Motivational Interviewing (MI) in Obesity Care: Cultivating Person-Centered and Supportive Clinical Conversations to Reduce Stigma: A Narrative Review," Obesity Science &..., 2025. wiley.com
- 207.J. Noyes, M. Robling, S. Willis, S. Vinnicombe, and others, "Interventions to improve mental health and well-being in care-

- experienced children and young people aged less than 25: the CHIMES systematic review," Public Health, 2024. cardiff.ac.uk
- 208.I. Peres, P. Rolo, and M. P. Soares dos Santos, "Multifunctional Smart Bone Implants: Fiction or Future? A New Perspective," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 209.M. Chelu and A. M. Musuc, "Advanced biomedical applications of multifunctional natural and synthetic biomaterials," Processes, 2023. mdpi.com
- 210.E. T. J. Chong, J. W. Ng, and P. C. Lee, "Classification and medical applications of biomaterials—a mini review," BIO integration, 2023. scienceopen.com
- 211.G. Satchanska, S. Davidova, and P. D. Petrov, "Natural and synthetic polymers for biomedical and environmental applications," Polymers, 2024. mdpi.com
- 212.F. D. Al-Shalawi, A. H. Mohamed Ariff, D. W. Jung, "Biomaterials as implants in the orthopedic field for regenerative medicine: metal versus synthetic polymers," Polymers, 2023. mdpi.com
- 213.S. Prete, M. Dattilo, F. Patitucci, G. Pezzi, O. I. Parisi, "Natural and synthetic polymeric biomaterials for application in wound management," *Functional Biomaterials*, vol. 2023. mdpi.com
- 214.S. Ajmal, F. A. Hashmi, and I. Imran, "Recent progress in development and applications of biomaterials," Materials Today: Proceedings, 2022. [HTML]
- 215.S. Liu, J. M. Yu, Y. C. Gan, X. Z. Qiu, Z. C. Gao, H. Wang, "Biomimetic natural biomaterials for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: new biosynthesis methods, recent advances, and emerging applications," Military Medical, vol. 2023, Springer. springer.com
- 216.S. A. Stewart, J. Domínguez-Robles, V. J. McIlorum, E. Mancuso *et al.*, "Development of a Biodegradable Subcutaneous Implant for Prolonged Drug Delivery Using 3D Printing," 2020. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 217.S. Talasila, "Organically Functionalized Multiporous Alumino-Siloxane Aerogel Microspheres For Controlled Release Of Antiplatletic Drug Aspirin.," 2014. [PDF]
- 218.T. C. Ezike, U. S. Okpala, U. L. Onoja, C. P. Nwike, and E. C. Ezeako, "Advances in drug delivery systems, challenges and future directions," Heliyon, 2023. cell.com

- 219.S. Adepu and S. Ramakrishna, "Controlled drug delivery systems: current status and future directions," Molecules, 2021. mdpi.com
- 220.J. Lou, H. Duan, Q. Qin, Z. Teng *et al.*, "Advances in oral drug delivery systems: challenges and opportunities," Pharmaceutics, 2023. mdpi.com
- 221.A. Salawi, "Self-emulsifying drug delivery systems: a novel approach to deliver drugs," Drug Delivery, 2022. tandfonline.com
- 222. V. P. Chavda, A. B. Patel, K. J. Mistry, S. F. Suthar, and others, "Nanodrug delivery systems entrapping natural bioactive compounds for cancer: recent progress and future challenges," *Frontiers in ...*, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 223.S. Losada-Barreiro, S. Celik, Z. Sezgin-Bayindir, *et al.*, "Carrier systems for advanced drug delivery: Improving drug solubility/bioavailability and administration routes," Pharmaceutics, 2024. mdpi.com
- 224.S. K. M Shadekul Islam, M. D. Abdullah Al Nasim, I. Hossain, D. Md Azim Ullah *et al.*, "Introduction of Medical Imaging Modalities," 2023. [PDF]
- 225.F. R. Santiago, A. J. L. Ramos-Bossini, *et al.*, "The value of magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography in the study of spinal disorders," *Imaging in ...*, 2022. nih.gov
- 226.M. C. Florkow and K. Willemsen, "Magnetic resonance imaging versus computed tomography for three-dimensional bone imaging of musculoskeletal pathologies: a review," *Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 227.M. C. Liszewski, P. Ciet, A. J. Winant, and E. Y. Lee, "Lung and large airway imaging: magnetic resonance imaging versus computed tomography," Pediatric Radiology, 2022. [HTML]
- 228.K. Y. Elbanna and A. Z. Kielar, "Computed tomography versus magnetic resonance imaging for hepatic lesion characterization/diagnosis," Clinical Liver Disease, 2021. wiley.com
- 229.M. Ogdi, E. M. Tawashi, I. A. Hakami, T. M. Hayan *et al.*, "... imaging techniques: a review of technological advances in the field of medical imaging, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computed tomography (CT ...," Development, 2023. core.ac.uk
- 230.C. Y. Lopez, A. Rana, S. A. Kareem, A. Sathya, "Noncontrast computed tomography vs computed tomography perfusion or magnetic resonance imaging selection in late presentation of stroke with large-vessel ...," JAMA, 2022. jamanetwork.com

- 231.K. S. Garrett, "Special diagnostic techniques in equine neurology (radiography, ultrasonography, computed tomography, and magnetic resonance imaging)," Veterinary Clinics: Equine Practice, 2022. [HTML]
- 232.X. Ren and L. Li, "Magnetic resonance imaging in lymphedema: Opportunities, challenges, and future perspectives," Magnetic Resonance Imaging, 2025. [HTML]
- 233.T. C. Arnold, C. W. Freeman, B. Litt, "Low-field MRI: clinical promise and challenges," *Journal of Magnetic Resonance*, vol. 2023, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 234.A. L. Czap and S. A. Sheth, "Overview of imaging modalities in stroke," Neurology, 2021. nih.gov
- 235.F. Vernuccio, R. Cannella, T. V. Bartolotta, M. Galia, *et al.*, "Advances in liver US, CT, and MRI: moving toward the future," *European Radiology*, vol. 2021, Springer. springer.com
- 236.G. Dournes, L. L. Walkup, I. Benlala, M. M. Willmering, *et al.*, "The clinical use of lung MRI in cystic fibrosis: what, now, how?," Chest, vol. 160, no. 4, pp. 1132-1145, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- 237.E. J. Feleppa, S. Kaisar Alam, and C. X. Deng, "Emerging Ultrasound Technologies for Early Markers of Disease," 2002. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 238.A. Lal, P. Naranje, and S. Kumar Pavunesan, "What's new in urologic ultrasound?," 2015. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 239.B. Miguel Gil Rosa and G. Z. Yang, "Ultrasound Powered Implants: Design, Performance Considerations and Simulation Results," 2020. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 240.J. Troccaz, "Medical robotics: where we come from, where we are and where we could go," 2008. [PDF]
- 241.A. M. Okamura, M. J. Mataric, and H. I. Christensen, "Medical and health-care robotics," 2010. [PDF]
- 242.R. Hargest, "Five thousand years of minimal access surgery: 1990–present: Organisational issues and the rise of the robots," Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine, 2021. sagepub.com
- 243. [243, 1] A. C. G. Morrell, A. C. Morrell-Junior, A. G. Morrell, "The history of robotic surgery and its evolution: when illusion becomes reality," Revista do Colégio, 2021. scielo.br

- 244.W. R. Chitwood Jr, "Historical evolution of robot-assisted cardiac surgery: a 25-year journey," Annals of Cardiothoracic Surgery, 2022. nih.gov
- 245.J. Grasso, "Robot-assisted surgery: Past, present, and future," Digital Health, 2025. [HTML]
- 246.J. Klodmann, C. Schlenk, A. Hellings-Kuß, T. Bahls, "An introduction to robotically assisted surgical systems: current developments and focus areas of research," Current Robotics, vol. 2021, Springer. springer.com
- 247.C. Suarez-Ahedo, A. Lopez-Reyes, *et al.*, "Revolutionizing orthopedics: a comprehensive review of robot-assisted surgery, clinical outcomes, and the future of patient care," *Journal of Robotic Surgery*, vol. 2023, Springer. [HTML]
- 248.J. N. K. Wah, "The rise of robotics and AI-assisted surgery in modern healthcare," Journal of Robotic Surgery, 2025. springer.com
- 249.F. Cepolina and R. P. Razzoli, "An introductory review of robotically assisted surgical systems," *Computer Assisted Surgery*, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 250.A. Handa, A. Gaidhane, and S. G. Choudhari, "Role of robotic-assisted surgery in public health: its advantages and challenges," Cureus, 2024. cureus.com
- 251.H. Zakir, M. Elahtem, and A. Q. Memon, "Robotic Surgery: Assessing the Advancements and Outcomes of Robotic-Assisted Surgeries. A Bibliometric Perspective," Cuestiones de Fisioterapia, 2025. cuestionesdefisioterapia.com
- 252.Y. Rivero-Moreno, S. Echevarria, C. Vidal-Valderrama, L. Pianetti *et al.*, "Robotic Surgery: A Comprehensive Review of the Literature and Current Trends," 2023. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 253.W. Zhang, "Biomedical engineering application: disease diagnosis and treatment," 2022. ualberta.ca
- 254.W. Wang, J. Pang, J. Su, F. Li, Q. Li, X. Wang, and J. Wang, "Applications of nanogenerators for biomedical engineering and healthcare systems," *InfoMat*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 123-145, 2022. wiley.com
- 255.I. Miranda, A. Souza, P. Sousa, and J. Ribeiro, "Properties and applications of PDMS for biomedical engineering: A review," *Journal of Functional Materials*, vol. 2021. mdpi.com

- 256.M. Thanh Thai, P. Thien Phan, S. Wong, N. H. Lovell *et al.*, "Advanced Intelligent Systems for Surgical Robotics," 2020. [PDF]
- 257.A. Mehta, J. Cheng Ng, W. Andrew Awuah, H. Huang *et al.*, "Embracing robotic surgery in low- and middle-income countries: Potential benefits, challenges, and scope in the future," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 258.J. Cornejo, J. A. Cornejo-Aguilar, M. Vargas, *et al.*, "Anatomical Engineering and 3D printing for surgery and medical devices: International review and future exponential innovations," BioMed Research, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 259.A. Jaafari, Z. Rahmani, A. Zolfagharizadeh, "Innovations in Biomedical Engineering: A Comprehensive Review of Emerging Trends and Technologies," 2025. [HTML]
- 260.H. Ullah, S. Manickam, M. Obaidat, and S. U. A. Laghari, "Exploring the potential of metaverse technology in healthcare: Applications, challenges, and future directions," in IEEE, 2023. ieee.org
- 261.S. Krishnamoorthy, A. Dua, and S. Gupta, "Role of emerging technologies in future IoT-driven Healthcare 4.0 technologies: A survey, current challenges and future directions," Journal of Ambient Intelligence and ..., vol. 2023, Springer. researchgate.net
- 262.C. J. Bashor, I. B. Hilton, H. Bandukwala, *et al.*, "Engineering the next generation of cell-based therapeutics," *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 241-258, 2022. nih.gov
- 263.G. Mugabo Kalisa, "Interdisciplinary Collaboration: Advancing Healthcare through Engineering," researchgate.net, . researchgate.net
- 264.M. V. S. Saladi and B. MRSB, "Advancing Healthcare—The Synergy of Biomedical Engineering and Biotechnology (2025)," researchgate.net, . researchgate.net
- 265.Г Сапармаммедова, "THE INTERDISCIPLINARY REALM OF BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING AND ITS IMPACT ON HUMAN HEALTH," ОБРАЗОВАНИЕ И НАУКА В XXI BEKE, 2025. mpcareer-google.ru
- 266.L. Montesinos and D. E. Salinas-Navarro, "Transdisciplinary experiential learning in biomedical engineering education for healthcare systems improvement," BMC Medical, vol. 2023, Springer. springer.com

- 267.S. A. A. Bajjah, H. W. Omar, and W. H. I. Muqrini, "A Scoping Review of Interdisciplinary Collaboration Between Nursing and Engineering in Healthcare," Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, 2024. metallmater-eng.com
- 268.G. Shabir, "Strategic Approaches to Healthcare: Leveraging Biomedical Engineering and AI for Enhanced Clinical Impact," researchgate.net, researchgate.net
- 269.S. W. Smye and A. F. Frangi, "Interdisciplinary research: shaping the healthcare of the future," Future healthcare journal, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- 270.A. Brassetti, A. Ragusa, F. Tedesco, F. Prata *et al.*, "Robotic Surgery in Urology: History from PROBOT(®) to HUGO(TM)," 2023. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 271.A. K. Yetisen, J. Leonardo Martinez-Hurtado, B. Ünal, A. Khademhosseini *et al.*, "Wearables in Medicine," 2018. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 272.K. Zovko, L. Šerić, T. Perković, H. Belani, "IoT and health monitoring wearable devices as enabling technologies for sustainable enhancement of life quality in smart environments," Journal of Cleaner Production, vol. 2023, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 273.E. A. Jafleh, F. A. Alnaqbi, H. A. Almaeeni, S. Faqeeh, "The role of wearable devices in chronic disease monitoring and patient care: a comprehensive review," Cureus, 2024. cureus.com
- 274.S. M. A. Iqbal, I. Mahgoub, E. Du, M. A. Leavitt, and others, "Advances in healthcare wearable devices," NPJ Flexible Electronics, vol. 5, no. 1, 2021. nature.com
- 275.A. Sharma, M. Badea, S. Tiwari, and J. L. Marty, "Wearable biosensors: an alternative and practical approach in healthcare and disease monitoring," Molecules, 2021. mdpi.com
- 276.V. Vijayan, J. P. Connolly, J. Condell, and N. McKelvey, "Review of wearable devices and data collection considerations for connected health," Sensors, vol. 21, no. 12, 2021. mdpi.com
- 277.M. Haghi, S. Danyali, S. Ayasseh, J. Wang, R. Aazami, "Wearable devices in health monitoring from the environmental towards multiple domains: A survey," Sensors, vol. 21, no. 4, 2021. mdpi.com
- 278.S. D. Mamdiwar, A. R., Z. Shakruwala, and U. Chadha, "Recent

- advances on IoT-assisted wearable sensor systems for healthcare monitoring," *Biosensors*, vol. 2021. mdpi.com
- 279.G. Bizel, S. Srinivasan, and M. Zeitouny, "Understanding how fitness trackers and smartwatches motivate people to a healthy lifestyle," in *... world studies in the scope of ...*, 2022. saintpeters.edu
- 280.L. Thompson, S. Charitos, J. Bird, P. Marshall, "Exploring the Use of Smartwatches and Activity Trackers for Health-Related Purposes for Children Aged 5 to 11 Years: Systematic Review," Journal of Medical, vol. 2025. jmir.org
- 281.X. Chen, W. Chen, K. Liu, C. Chen, and L. Li, "A comparative study of smartphone and smartwatch apps," in *Proceedings of the 36th Annual ...*, 2021. github.io
- 282.R. Moye, T. Towns, A. Skipper, and D. Rose, "Are smartwatches actually used for exercise? Evidence from HBCU students," *American Journal of Health*, vol. 2022, Taylor & Francis. [HTML]
- 283.F. V. Lima, V. Kadiyala, A. Huang, K. Agusala, "At the crossroads! Time to start taking smartwatches seriously," The American Journal of ..., vol. 2022, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 284.J. Chung, H. R. Brakey, B. Reeder, and others, "Community-dwelling older adults' acceptance of smartwatches for health and location tracking," *Journal of Older Adults*, vol. 2023, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 285.P. K. Beh, Y. Ganesan, M. Iranmanesh, and others, "Using smartwatches for fitness and health monitoring: the UTAUT2 combined with threat appraisal as moderators," Behaviour & Information Technology, vol. 2021, Taylor & Francis. ecu.edu.au
- 286.F. El-Amrawy and M. Ismail Nounou, "Are Currently Available Wearable Devices for Activity Tracking and Heart Rate Monitoring Accurate, Precise, and Medically Beneficial?," 2015. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 287.C. Del-Valle-Soto and J. C. López-Pimentel, "A comprehensive review of behavior change techniques in wearables and IoT: implications for health and well-being," Sensors, 2024. mdpi.com
- 288.B. Singh, E. M. Zopf, and E. J. Howden, "Effect and feasibility of wearable physical activity trackers and pedometers for increasing physical activity and improving health outcomes in cancer survivors ...," Journal of sport and health science, 2022. sciencedirect.com

- 289.K. Szeto, J. Arnold, B. Singh, B. Gower, "Interventions using wearable activity trackers to improve patient physical activity and other outcomes in adults who are hospitalized: a systematic review and meta," JAMA Network, 2023. jamanetwork.com
- 290.C. Del-Valle-Soto, R. A. Briseño, L. J. Valdivia, "Unveiling wearables: exploring the global landscape of biometric applications and vital signs and behavioral impact," BioData Mining, vol. 2024, Springer. springer.com
- 291.Z. Zhang, P. M. Amegbor, and C. E. Sabel, "Assessing the current integration of multiple personalised wearable sensors for environment and health monitoring," Sensors, 2021. mdpi.com
- 292.A. Kristoffersson and M. Lindén, "A systematic review of wearable sensors for monitoring physical activity," Sensors, 2022. mdpi.com
- 293.S. Cho, I. Ensari, C. Weng, M. G. Kahn, *et al.*, "Factors affecting the quality of person-generated wearable device data and associated challenges: rapid systematic review," *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 9, no. 12, 2021. jmir.org
- 294.S. Canali, V. Schiaffonati, and A. Aliverti, "Challenges and recommendations for wearable devices in digital health: Data quality, interoperability, health equity, fairness," PLOS digital health, 2022. plos.org
- 295.S. Cho, C. Weng, M. G. Kahn, *et al.*, "Identifying data quality dimensions for person-generated wearable device data: Multi-method study," *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 9, no. 7, 2021. jmir.org
- 296.K. Bayoumy, M. Gaber, A. Elshafeey, *et al.*, "Smart wearable devices in cardiovascular care: where we are and how to move forward," *Nature Reviews*, vol. 2021. nature.com
- 297.S. Huhn, M. Axt, H. C. Gunga, and M. A. Maggioni, "The impact of wearable technologies in health research: scoping review," *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 10, no. 3, 2022. jmir.org
- 298.K. Moore, E. O'Shea, L. Kenny, J. Barton, "Older adults' experiences with using wearable devices: qualitative systematic review and metasynthesis," JMIR mHealth and uHealth, vol. 9, no. 5, 2021. jmir.org
- 299.R. Ramezani, M. Cao, A. Earthperson, and A. Naeim, "Developing a Smartwatch-Based Healthcare Application: Notes to Consider," 2023. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov

- 300.C. Obianyo, V. C. Ezeamii, B. Idoko, "The future of wearable health technology: from monitoring to preventive healthcare," World J. Biol. Pharm., 2024. researchgate.net
- 301.EP Adeghe, CA Okolo, OT Ojeyinka, "A review of wearable technology in healthcare: Monitoring patient health and enhancing outcomes," OARJ of Multidisciplinary..., 2024. researchgate.net
- 302.D. H. Devi, K. Duraisamy, A. Armghan, M. Alsharari, "5G technology in healthcare and wearable devices: A review," Sensors, 2023. mdpi.com
- 303.Y. Xie, L. Lu, F. Gao, S. He, H. Zhao, Y. Fang, and J. Yang, "Integration of artificial intelligence, blockchain, and wearable technology for chronic disease management: a new paradigm in smart healthcare," *Current Medical*, vol. 2021, Springer. springer.com
- 304.F. Pervez, M. Shoukat, V. Suresh, "Medicine's New Rhythm: Harnessing Acoustic Sensing via the Internet of Audio Things for Healthcare," IEEE Open Journal, 2024. ieee.org
- 305.I. Ahmad, Z. Asghar, T. Kumar, G. Li, A. Manzoor, "Emerging technologies for next generation remote health care and assisted living," *IEEE Access*, vol. 2022. ieee.org
- 306.O. Elnaggar, R. Arelhi, F. Coenen, A. Hopkinson, *et al.*, "An interpretable framework for sleep posture change detection and postural inactivity segmentation using wrist kinematics," *Scientific Reports*, 2023. nature.com
- 307.H. Haick and N. Tang, "Artificial intelligence in medical sensors for clinical decisions," ACS nano, 2021. researchgate.net
- 308.J. Nandhini, E. Karthikeyan, E. E. Rani, "Development and characterization of solriamfetol-loaded PVA/PLGA electrospun nanofiber membranes: A promising approach for sustained narcolepsy treatment," Nano-Structures & Nano-Objects, vol. 2024, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 309.N. Bartłomiejczyk and S. Urben, "Marbly: A Companion-Based Gamified Diary Approach for Tackling Fear Foods for Youths with Anorexia Nervosa through Emotional Attachment," in *Interactive Systems*, 2025. [HTML]
- 310.T. Wainstein, A. M. Elliott, and J. C. Austin, "Considerations for the use of qualitative methodologies in genetic counseling research," *Journal

- of Genetic Counseling*, vol. 2023, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 311.V. Nangalia, D. R Prytherch, and G. B Smith, "Health technology assessment review: Remote monitoring of vital signs current status and future challenges," 2010. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 312.I. Tomasic, N. Tomasic, R. Trobec, M. Krpan *et al.*, "Continuous remote monitoring of COPD patients justification and explanation of the requirements and a survey of the available technologies," 2018. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 313.R. S. Bakalar, "Telemedicine: its past, present and future," in *Healthcare Information Management Systems: Cases ...*, 2022, Springer. [HTML]
- 314.T. O. Olorunsogo and O. D. Balogun, "Reviewing the evolution of US telemedicine post-pandemic by analyzing its growth, acceptability, and challenges in remote healthcare delivery during Global ...," World Journal of ..., 2024. semanticscholar.org
- 315.M. Imran, "Telemedicine: Advancing Smarter by Evolution through Decades," Asian Journal of Pharmaceutics (AJP), 2024. asiapharmaceutics.info
- 316.H. S. Kapare, K. M. Rathi, and S. D. Labhade, "Telemedicine: present, future and applications," in *Telemedicine: The Computer ...*, 2022, Springer. researchgate.net
- 317.G. Sageena, M. Sharma, and A. Kapur, "Evolution of smart healthcare: Telemedicine during COVID-19 pandemic," Journal of The Institution of Engineers, vol. 101, no. 1, pp. 1-5, 2021. springer.com
- 318.G. Chu, B. Guan, X. Ji, X. Yu, R. Yang, S. Besli, and J. Zhao, "Global trends and insights of telesurgery research: a bibliometric analysis of publications since the 21st century," Surgical, vol. 2025, Springer. [HTML]
- 319.S. Sharma, N. Subbarao, and S. K. Jha, "Revolutionizing healthcare: Cutting-edge technologies and their applications," in *Transforming...*, 2026. [HTML]
- 320.H. Hosseinkhani, "Biomedical engineering: materials, technology, and applications," 2022. [HTML]
- 321.A. Zamhuri, G. P. Lim, N. L. Ma, K. S. Tee, "MXene in the lens of biomedical engineering: synthesis, applications and future outlook," *Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 2021, Springer, 2021. springer.com

- 322.P. Venkatram, "Physiology of the Heart and Circulation Hemodynamics," in *Heart Diseases and Echocardiogram: Principles in ...*, Springer, 2024. [HTML]
- 323.M. Davey, C. Puelz, S. Rossi, M. A. Smith, D. R. Wells, "Simulating cardiac fluid dynamics in the human heart," PNAS, 2024. oup.com
- 324.C. Park, M. Singh, M. Y. Saeed, C. T. Nguyen *et al.*, "Biorobotic hybrid heart as a benchtop cardiac mitral valve simulator," Device, 2024. cell.com
- 325.H. Wang, Y. Chen, L. Wang, Q. Liu, S. Yang, "Advancing herbal medicine: enhancing product quality and safety through robust quality control practices," Frontiers in ..., 2023. frontiersin.org
- 326.P. Bhutani, G. Joshi, N. Raja, N. Bachhav, "US FDA approved drugs from 2015–June 2020: a perspective," Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, vol. 2021, ACS Publications. [HTML]
- 327.D. T. Michaeli and T. Michaeli, "..., progression-free survival, and tumor response benefit supporting initial US Food and Drug Administration approval and indication extension of new cancer drugs ...," Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2022. [HTML]
- 328.B. M. A. Alzahrani and N. H. M. Alharbi, "Biomedical engineering applications: Developing and improving pre-hospital healthcare systems using modern technology," in *Crisis and Risk*, 2024. [HTML]
- 329.M. Raxworthy, R. Ssekitoleko, and P. N. Makobore, "Biomedical Engineering as a Driver for Healthcare Improvements in East Africa," 2022. whiterose.ac.uk
- 330.O. L. Lanier, M. D. Green, G. A. Barabino, *et al.*, "Ten simple rules in biomedical engineering to improve healthcare equity," PLoS Computational Biology, vol. 18, no. 7, 2022. plos.org
- 331.S. Pasricha, "Ethics for Digital Medicine: A Path for Ethical Emerging Medical IoT Design," 2022. [PDF]
- 332.P. Mehta, O. Zimba, A. Y. Gasparyan, "Ethics committees: structure, roles, and issues," *Journal of Korean Medical Science*, vol. 2023. koreamed.org
- 333.A. Esmaili, A. Rahmani, A. Alijanpour, "Challenges for Ethics Review Committees in Regulating Medical Artificial Intelligence Research," Indian Journal of ..., vol. 2025, Springer. [HTML]

- 334.U. S. Khan and S. U. R. Khan, "Ethics by Design: A Lifecycle Framework for Trustworthy AI in Medical Imaging From Transparent Data Governance to Clinically Validated Deployment," arXiv preprint arXiv:2507.04249, 2025. [PDF]
- 335.R. T. Ssekitoleko, B. N. Arinda, S. Oshabahebwa, *et al.*, "The status of medical devices and their utilization in 9 tertiary hospitals and 5 research institutions in Uganda," *Clinical Engineering*, 2021. academia.edu
- 336.E. Wright Clayton, "Patients and Biobanks," 2006. [PDF]
- 337.R. Tertulino, N. Antunes, and H. Morais, "Privacy in electronic health records: a systematic mapping study," Journal of Public Health, 2024. springer.com
- 338.D. McGraw and K. D. Mandl, "Privacy protections to encourage use of health-relevant digital data in a learning health system," NPJ digital medicine, 2021. nature.com
- 339.A. Uslu and J. Stausberg, "Value of the electronic medical record for hospital care: update from the literature," Journal of medical Internet research, 2021. jmir.org
- 340.M. A. Gianfrancesco and N. D. Goldstein, "A narrative review on the validity of electronic health record-based research in epidemiology," BMC medical research methodology, 2021. springer.com
- 341.A. E. W. Johnson, L. Bulgarelli, L. Shen, A. Gayles, *et al.*, "MIMIC-IV, a freely accessible electronic health record dataset," *Scientific Data*, vol. 2023, 2023. nature.com
- 342.O. M. Danforth, E. Lett, E. Potter, "Transgender data collection in the electronic health record: current concepts and issues," *American Medical*, 2022. nih.gov
- 343.M. M. Pai, R. Ganiga, R. M. Pai, and R. K. Sinha, "Standard electronic health record (EHR) framework for Indian healthcare system," in *Health Services and Outcomes Research*, 2021, Springer. springer.com
- 344.S. D. Bao, M. Chen, and G. Z. Yang, "A Method of Signal Scrambling to Secure Data Storage for Healthcare Applications," 2017. [PDF]
- 345.R. S. H. Istepanian, "Mobile health (m-Health) in retrospect: the known unknowns," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 2022. mdpi.com

- 346.J. Cao, Y. Lim, S. Sengoku, and X. Guo, "Exploring the shift in international trends in mobile health research from 2000 to 2020: bibliometric analysis," JMIR mHealth and uHealth, vol. 9, no. 1, 2021. jmir.org
- 347.A. Essén, A. D. Stern, C. B. Haase, J. Car, F. Greaves, *et al.*, "Health app policy: international comparison of nine countries' approaches," NPJ Digital Health, vol. 5, no. 1, 2022. nature.com
- 348.H. R. Ju, E. K. Kang, Y. I. Kim, H. Y. Ko, *et al.*, "The effectiveness of a mobile health care app and human coaching program in primary care clinics: pilot multicenter real-world study," *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 10, no. 3, 2022. jmir.org
- 349.T. Inomata, J. Sung, Y. Okumura, K. Nagino, "A Medical Paradigm Shift in Society 5.0: Implementation of a Smartphone App-based Dry Eye Diagnosis Assistance Software as a Medical Device," Juntendo Medical Journal, 2024. jst.go.jp
- 350.C. Bowen-Forbes, T. Khondaker, T. Stafinski, and others, "Mobile apps for the personal safety of at-risk children and youth: scoping review," *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 12, no. 1, 2024. jmir.org
- 351.S. Manti and A. Licari, "How to obtain informed consent for research," 2018. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 352.R. McClelland and C. M. Harper, "Information privacy in healthcare the vital role of informed consent," European Journal of Health Law, 2022. brill.com
- 353.M. Pallocci, M. Treglia, P. Passalacqua, "Informed consent: legal obligation or cornerstone of the care relationship?" *Public Health*, vol. 2023. mdpi.com
- 354.I. Pakiş, G. Bektaş, and B. A. Kaya, "Importance of informed consent in clinical practice," Istanbul Medical Journal, vol. 2022. istanbulmedicaljournal.org
- 355.J. Millum and D. Bromwich, "Informed consent: What must be disclosed and what must be understood?," The American Journal of Bioethics, 2021. philarchive.org
- 356.B. Abdelazeem, K. S. Abbas, M. A. Amin, N. A. El-Shahat, *et al.*, "The effectiveness of incentives for research participation: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials," *PloS One*, vol. 17, no. 8, 2022. plos.org

- 357.J. M. Roehl and D. J. Harland, "Imposter participants: Overcoming methodological challenges related to balancing participant privacy with data quality when using online recruitment and data ...," The qualitative report, 2022. [HTML]
- 358.O. A. Afolabi, J. O. Fadare, and O. T. Ajiboye, "Informed Consent in Otolaryngologic Surgery: Case Scenario from a Nigerian Specialist Hospital," 2014. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 359.K. Hug and M. Johansson, "Challenges to Informed Consent in First-In-Human Trials Involving Novel Treatments: A Case Study of Parkinson's Disease," 2017. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 360.A. Bates, M. A. West, S. Jack, and M. P. W. Grocott, "Preparing for and not waiting for surgery," Current Oncology, 2024. mdpi.com
- 361.J. C. Glasbey, T. E. F. Abbott, A. Ademuyiwa, A. Adisa, *et al.*, "Elective surgery system strengthening: development, measurement, and validation of the surgical preparedness index across 1632 hospitals in 119 countries," The Lancet, 2022. thelancet.com
- 362.E. Sejdić and F. C. Su, "What the future holds for Biomedical Engineering Online?," 2019. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 363.M. Deliorman and D. S. Ali, "Next-generation microfluidics for biomedical research and healthcare applications," *Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 2023. sagepub.com
- 364.A. Thacharodi, P. Singh, R. Meenatchi, "Revolutionizing healthcare and medicine: The impact of modern technologies for a healthier future A comprehensive review," Health Care, 2024. wiley.com
- 365.S. A. Alowais, S. S. Alghamdi, N. Alsuhebany, *et al.*, "Revolutionizing healthcare: the role of artificial intelligence in clinical practice," BMC Medical, vol. 2023, Springer. springer.com
- 366.J. Iqbal, D. C. C. Jaimes, P. Makineni, and S. Subramani, "Reimagining healthcare: unleashing the power of artificial intelligence in medicine," Cureus, 2023. cureus.com
- 367.S. D. Hodge Jr, "Revolutionizing Healthcare: The Transformative Power of Artificial Intelligence in Medicine," Loy. L. Rev., 2023. loynolawreview.org
- 368.R. Najjar, "Redefining radiology: a review of artificial intelligence integration in medical imaging," Diagnostics, 2023. mdpi.com

- 369.M. Komorowski, "Artificial intelligence in intensive care: are we there yet?" 2019. [PDF]
- 370.K. Eskandar, "Artificial intelligence in healthcare: explore the applications of AI in various medical domains, such as medical imaging, diagnosis, drug discovery, and patient ...," Series Med Sci, 2023. seriesscience.com
- 371.P. Rajpurkar, E. Chen, O. Banerjee, and E. J. Topol, "AI in health and medicine," Nature medicine, 2022. google.com
- 372.Z. Ahmad, S. Rahim, M. Zubair, and J. Abdul-Ghafar, "Artificial intelligence (AI) in medicine, current applications and future role with special emphasis on its potential and promise in pathology: present and future impact ...," Diagnostic pathology, 2021. springer.com
- 373.X. Gao, P. He, Y. Zhou, and X. Qin, "Artificial intelligence applications in smart healthcare: a survey," Future Internet, 2024. mdpi.com
- 374.V. K. Chattu, "A review of artificial intelligence, big data, and blockchain technology applications in medicine and global health," Big Data and Cognitive Computing, 2021. mdpi.com
- 375.J. Yin, K. Y. Ngiam, and H. H. Teo, "Role of artificial intelligence applications in real-life clinical practice: systematic review," Journal of medical Internet research, 2021. jmir.org
- 376.P. Manickam, S. A. Mariappan, S. M. Murugesan, and S. Hansda, "Artificial intelligence (AI) and internet of medical things (IoMT) assisted biomedical systems for intelligent healthcare," *Biosensors*, 2022. mdpi.com
- 377.P. Liu, L. Lu, J. Zhang, T. Huo *et al.*, "Application of Artificial Intelligence in Medicine: An Overview," 2021. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 378.P. Ruamviboonsuk, R. Tiwari, R. Sayres, *et al.*, "Real-time diabetic retinopathy screening by deep learning in a multisite national screening programme: a prospective interventional cohort study," The Lancet Digital Health, vol. 2022. thelancet.com
- 379.J. Grauslund, "Diabetic retinopathy screening in the emerging era of artificial intelligence," Diabetologia, 2022. springer.com
- 380.D. Tarasewicz, A. J. Karter, N. Pimentel, H. H. Moffet, "Development and validation of a diabetic retinopathy risk stratification algorithm," *Diabetes*, vol. 2023. nih.gov

- 381.S. N. Fe'li, M. H. Emamian, M. Yaseri, H. Riazi-Esfahani, "Development and validation of prediction models for diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetes patients," PLoS, 2025. plos.org
- 382.J. Yao, J. Lim, G. Y. S. Lim, J. C. L. Ong, Y. Ke, T. F. Tan, T. E. Tan, "Novel artificial intelligence algorithms for diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema," Eye and Vision, vol. 2024, Springer. springer.com
- 383.A. E. Rajesh, O. Q. Davidson, C. S. Lee, and A. Y. Lee, "Artificial intelligence and diabetic retinopathy: AI framework, prospective studies, head-to-head validation, and cost-effectiveness," Diabetes care, 2023. diabetesjournals.org
- 384.L. Dai, L. Wu, H. Li, C. Cai, Q. Wu, H. Kong, R. Liu, "A deep learning system for detecting diabetic retinopathy across the disease spectrum," *Nature*, vol. 2021. nature.com
- 385.L. Dai, B. Sheng, T. Chen, Q. Wu, R. Liu, C. Cai, and L. Wu, "A deep learning system for predicting time to progression of diabetic retinopathy," *Nature Medicine*, 2024. nature.com
- 386.P. R. Corridon, X. Wang, A. Shakeel, and V. Chan, "Digital Technologies: Advancing Individualized Treatments through Gene and Cell Therapies, Pharmacogenetics, and Disease Detection and Diagnostics," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 387.K. Pathak, R. Saikia, A. Das, D. Das, "3D printing in biomedicine: Advancing personalized care through additive manufacturing," *Journal of Medicine*, vol. 2023. explorationpub.com
- 388.A. Nawaz, "The Role of Biotechnology in Personalized Medicine: Tailoring Treatments through Genomic Insights," Life Sciences Perspectives, 2024. lsperspectives.com
- 389.P. R. Corridon, X. Wang, A. Shakeel, and V. Chan, "Digital technologies: Advancing individualized treatments through gene and cell therapies, pharmacogenetics, and disease detection and diagnostics," Biomedicines, 2022. mdpi.com
- 390.N. Ehyaei Rad, "Synthetic Biology in Genomics: Redefining Genetic Engineering and Its Applications in Personalized Medicine," Advanced Therapies Journal, 2025. atjournal.ir
- 391.S. S. Kumar, "Personalized medicine: the use of genetic information to tailor treatment plans to individual patients," Personalized medicine, 2024. jagunifiedinternational.in

- 392.W. Lattanzi, C. Ripoli, V. Greco, M. Barba, *et al.*, "Basic and preclinical research for personalized medicine," *Personalized Medicine*, 2021. mdpi.com
- 393.V. Vásquez and J. Orozco, "Detection of COVID-19-related biomarkers by electrochemical biosensors and potential for diagnosis, prognosis, and prediction of the course of the disease in the context of personalized medicine," 2023. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 394.Z. B. Akhtar and A. D. Gupta, "Advancements within molecular engineering for regenerative medicine and biomedical applications: an investigation analysis towards a computing retrospective," Electromedical Engineering and Medical, 2024. jeeemi.org
- 395.D. K. Shanmugam, S. C. Anitha, V. Souresh, "Current advancements in the development of bionic organs using regenerative medicine and 3D tissue engineering," Materials, vol. 2023, Taylor & Francis. tandfonline.com
- 396.N. A. Elmahjub, "Bioengineering advances in tissue regeneration: current trends and future prospects," Open European Journal for Research in Medical Sciences, 2025. easdjournals.com
- 397.O. Braun Benyamin, D. Juvinao, T. Berlinsky, A. Salih *et al.*, "Designing Engineering Solutions to Surgical Problems: How to Translate Physiology to Biomechanics," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 398.K. R. Moravec, E. L. Lothamer, A. Hoene, P. Mike Wagoner *et al.*, "Clinical Immersion of Undergraduate Biomedical Engineering Students: Best Practices for Short-Term Programs," 2023. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 399.M. D. Serruya, "Bottlenecks to clinical translation of direct brain-computer interfaces," 2014. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 400.T. M. Morrison, J. D. Stitzel, and S. M. Levine, "Modeling and simulation in biomedical engineering: regulatory science and innovation for advancing public health," Annals of Biomedical Engineering, 2023. springer.com
- 401.OC Ioachimescu and R. Shaker, "Translational science and related disciplines," Journal of Investigative ..., 2025. sagepub.com
- 402.E. V. Bernstam and P. K. Shireman, "Artificial intelligence in clinical and translational science: Successes, challenges and opportunities,"
 Clinical and Translational Science, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com

- 403.C. P. Austin, "Opportunities and challenges in translational science," Clinical and Translational Science, 2021. wiley.com
- 404.A. K. Shadmanov and A. O. Okhunov, "TRANSLATIONAL MEDICINE-A NEW WAY FROM EXPERIMENTAL LABORATORY TO CLINICAL PRACTICE," 2022. tma.uz
- 405.N. V. Mayrink, L. Alcoforado, A. Chioro, *et al.*, "Translational research in health technologies: A scoping review," Frontiers in Digital Health, vol. 2022. frontiersin.org
- 406.N. Terranova, K. Venkatakrishnan, and L. J. Benincosa, "Application of machine learning in translational medicine: current status and future opportunities," The AAPS Journal, 2021. springer.com
- 407.R. R. Sankaran, J. M. Ameling, A. E.M. Cohn, C. M. Grum *et al.*, "A Practical Guide for Building Collaborations Between Clinical Researchers and Engineers: Lessons Learned From a Multidisciplinary Patient Safety Project," 2020. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 408.D. K. Pal, H. Palaparthy, P. Katari, "Leveraging Ontological Frameworks To Personalize Treatment Pathways And Strengthen Healthcare Partnerships," Journal for ReAttach, 2022. researchgate.net
- 409.K. C. Owhonda, "Enhancing healthcare outcomes via agile IT project management, secure data governance, and informatics-driven workflow optimization," Int J Eng Technol Res Manag, 2024. ijetrm.com
- 410.M. Cascella, F. Semeraro, J. Montomoli, V. Bellini, "The breakthrough of large language models release for medical applications: 1-year timeline and perspectives," Journal of Medical ..., vol. 2024, Springer. springer.com
- 411.J. Oyeniyi and P. Oluwaseyi, "Emerging trends in AI-powered medical imaging: enhancing diagnostic accuracy and treatment decisions," in *Science Technology & Engineering*, 2024. researchgate.net
- 412.S. Abdul, E. P. Adeghe, B. O. Adegoke, "A review of the challenges and opportunities in implementing health informatics in rural healthcare settings," *International Medical Journal*, 2024. researchgate.net
- 413.V. V. R. Boda and J. Immaneni, "Keeping Healthcare Running Smoothly: How SRE is Changing the Game," Journal of Emerging Research in Engineering, 2024. ijeret.org